

SZENT ISTVÁN UNIVERSITY Animal Husbandry Science PhD School

GENERATION OF MOUSE INDUCED PLURIPOTENT STEM (iPS) CELLS BY *SLEEPING BEAUTY* (SB) TRANSPOSON

Suchitra Muenthaisong

Gödöllő 2012

The PhD program

Name:	Animal Husbandry Science PhD School
Discipline:	Animal Husbandry Science
Leader of the shool:	Professor Dr. Mézes Miklós D.Sc.
	Head of Department,
	Szent István University,
	Faculty of Agricultural and Environment Science,
	Department of Nutrition

Supervisor:	Professor Dr. Dinnyés András D.Sc.		
	Head of Molecular Animal Biotechnology Laboratory,		
	Szent István University,		
	Faculty of Agricultural and Environment Science,		
	Institute for Basic Animal Sciences		

Approval of the PhD School leader

Approval of the Supervisor

TABLE OF CONTENTS

TABLE OF CONTENTS	3
ABBREVIATIONS	5
CHAPTER 1. INTRODUCTION	8
CHAPTER 2. LITERATURE REVIEWS	10
2.1 INTRODUCTION	10
2.2 ESTABLISHMENT FACTORS OF iPS CELLS	11
2.1.1 Reprogramming factors	12
a. Oct-4	12
b. <i>Sox-2</i>	12
c. Klf-4	13
d. c-Myc	13
2.2.2 Delivery system	18
2.2.2.1 Integrative delivery systems	18
a. Retroviral delivery system	18
b. Lentiviral delivery system	19
2.2.2.2 Excisable delivery systems	21
a. <i>piggyBac</i> (PB) transposon delivery system	21
b. Sleeping Beauty (SB) transposon delivery system	24
c. Plasmid delivery system	26
2.2.2.3 Non- integrative delivery systems	27
a. Non-integration adenoviral delivery system	27
b. Transient episomal delivery system	27
c. Proteins delivery system	29
d. RNAs delivery system	30
2.2.3 Donor cell types	33
2.2.4 Culture condition methods	35
2.2.5 Identification and characterization	36
2.3 APPLICATION	39
CHAPTER 3. MATERIALS AND METHODS	41
3.1 Plasmid construction	41
3.2 Cell culture	42

3.3 Reprogramming of MEFs using SB vectors	42
3.4 EB Formation	43
3.5 In vitro cardiac differentiation assay	43
3.6 <i>In vitro</i> neuronal differentiation	43
3.7 In vivo differentiation	44
3.8 RT-PCR analysis	44
3.9 Immunofluorescence staining	45
CHAPTER 4. RESULTS	46
4.1 Generation of iPS cells using the SB transposon system	46
4.1.1 Transfection of <i>Sleeping Beauty</i> transposon-mediated construct into MEFs	46
4.1.2 Generation of iPS cell colonies	47
4.2 Characterization of iPS cells	48
4.2.1 Morphology of iPS cells	49
4.2.2 Immunofluorescence staining of ES cells marker	50
4.2.3 RT-PCR analysis	51
4.3 Differentiation of iPS cells	52
4.3.1 In vitro cardiac differentiation	52
4.3.2 In vitro neuronal differentiation	55
4.3.3 In vivo differentiation	56
CHAPTER 5. NEW SCIENTIFIC RESULTS	58
CHAPTER 6. DISCUSSION AND SUGGESTION	59
CHAPTER 7. SUMMARY (EN)	63
CHAPTER 7. SUMMARY (HU)	64
APPENDIX	65
REFERENCES	68
PUBLICATION LISTS	91
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	100

ABBREVIATIONS

- ADA-SCID: Adenosine Deaminase-Severe Combined Immunodeficiency
- ALS: Amyotryophic Lateral Sclerosis
- AP: Alkaline Phosphatase
- AV: Adenovirus
- AZA: Azacytidine
- bFGF: Basic Fibroblast Growth Factor
- BMD: Becker Muscular Dystrophy
- BSA: Bovine Serum Albumin
- C57BL/6: C57 Black 6
- CHIR99021: Glycogen synthase kinase-3 inhibitor
- c-Myc: Cellular Myelocytomatosis Oncogene
- CO₂: Carbondioxide
- CPP: Cell-Penetrating Peptide
- d.p.c: Days Post Coitum
- DA: Dopaminergic
- DAPI: 4',6'-diamidino-2-phenylindole
- Dlk1-Dio3: Delta-like homolog 1 gene and the type III iodothyronine deiodinase gene
- DMEM: Dulbecco's Modified Eagle's Medium
- DNA: Deoxyribonucleic Acid
- DNMT: DNA Methyltransferase
- DS: Down Syndrome
- DMD: Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy
- EBs : Embryoid Bodies
- EBNA1: Epstein-Barr Nuclear Antigen 1
- EDTA: Ethylenediaminetetraacetic Acid
- EF1α: Elongation Factor-1 Alpha
- EP: Episomal Plasmid
- Esrrb: Estrogen-Related Receptor Beta
- Essrrg: Estrogen-Related Receptor Gamma
- ES: Embryonic Stem
- ET: Embryo Transfer
- F1: Filial-1

FBS: Fetal Bovine Serum FM: Fibroblasts Medium Fbx15: F-box only Protein 15 HDAC: Hintone Deacetylase **IR: Inverted Repeat GD**: Gaucher Disease GFP: Green Fluorescence Protein **GLT** : Germline Transmission GSK-3: Glycogen Synthase Kinase HD: Hanging Drop HD: Huntington Disease HEMA: Hydroxyethyl Methacrylate HFFs: Human Fetal Fibroblasts ICM: Inner Cell Mass **ICR:** Imprinting Control Region iPS: Induced Pluripotent Stem IRES: Internal Ribosomal Entry Site JDM: Juvenile-onset type I diabetes mellitus KK20: Kinase Calcium 20 serum-free medium Klf-4: Krüppel-like Factor-4 KSOM: Keck School of Medicine L: Lin28 LIF: Leukemia Inhibiting Factor LV: Lentivirus M: Minicycle MAPKK: Mitogen Activated Protein Kinase MEFs: Mouse Embryonic Fibroblasts miPS: Mouse Induced Pluripotent Stem MMLV: Moloney Murine Leukemia Virus N: Nanog NEAA: Non-Essential Amino Acid NPCs: Neuron Progenitor Cells O₂: Oxygen Oct-4: Octamer-binding transcription factor-4

oriP/EBNA1: Replication origin/Encoded-Barr Nuclear Antigen-1

OSKM: Oct4-Sox2-Klf4-cMyc

OSLN: Oct4-Sox2-Lin28-Nanog

PM: Plasmid

PB: *piggybac* Transposon

PD: Parkinson Disease

poly-2-HEMA: Poly-2-Hydroxyethyl Methacrylate

PT: Protein

RA: Retinoic Acid

RNA: Ribonucleic Acid

RT-PCR: Reverse Transcription Polychain Reaction

RV: Retrovirus

SB: Sleeping Beauty Transposon

SBDS: Shwachman-Bodian-Diamond Syndrome

SCNT: Somatic Cell Nuclear Transfer

SMA: Spinal Muscular Atrophy

Sox-2: Sex-determining region-Y

SSEA-1: Stage-Specific Embryonic Antigen-1

SV: Sendai virus

SV40LT: Simian Virusa-40 Large-T Antigen

T: SV40-large T-antigen

T2A: *Thosea asigna* virus

Wnt3A: Wingless-type MMTV integration site family, member 3A

VPA: Valproic Acid

β-ME: β-mercaptoethanol

CHAPTER 1. INTRODUCTION

Embryonic stem (ES) cells have an unlimited expansion potential and are able to produce many differentiated and functional cell types. Directed differentiation of ES cells can provide a valuable source of specialized cells for regenerative cell therapy of damaged tissues. However the generation of human ES cell lines requires the sacrifice of human embryos. The generation of patient-specific ES cells requires also access to high quality human oocytes. Thus, the generation of human ES cells, raises serious ethical issues.

Recent advances of induced pluripotency in mouse and human fibroblast cells have resulted in the generation of a new type of stem cell, called induced Pluripotent Stem (iPS) cells (Takahashi and Yamanaka 2006; Okita *et al.* 2007; Wernig *et al.* 2007; Kaji *et al.* 2009; Woltjen *et al.* 2009). The iPS cells have been produced from adult differentiated cells in mouse and human by introducing a few key pluripotency genes. These cells have shown characteristics surprisingly similar to ES cells and like ES cells, are also able to differentiate into many somatic tissues. To date, the best demonstration of their ES-like differentiation potential has been made through the generation of whole mice by tetraploid complementation (Zhao *et al.* 2009). The iPS cells might be a replacement for ES cells, as they overcome the ethical and legal limitations of embryo and cloning research. The long-term goal of iPS technology is to generate patient-specific donor cells for transplantation, which can be expanded and differentiated to multiple cell types, and also be genetically modified for gene therapy purposes.

Despite the success with retro- and lentivirus based iPS cell generation, there are reports on increased prevalence of tumor formation in mice generated from such cells (Okita *et al.* 2007; Nakagawa *et al.* 2008). The scientific aim of this study is to improve techniques for the generation of iPS cells, in order to find the safest and most efficient way to de-differentiate adult mouse cells into the pluripotent state. In this study, I used a non-viral, transposon-based gene delivery method, the *Sleeping Beauty* (SB) expression system (Ivics *et al.* 1997). The advantage of this system over viral methods is that the transposon integrates randomly at the generate iPS lines from three different genetic backgrounds by using this technique. These lines were found to be pluripotent and differentiated into multiple lineages both *in vitro* and *in vitro*. Therefore, the generation of pluripotent stem cells from differentiated somatic cells has

various therapeutic implications, particularly in the aim of disease modeling, pharmaceutical screening, and xeno-transplantation therapies.

This scientific study is aimed to generate novel information on the generation and maintenance of iPS cells from mouse fibroblasts on their differentiation towards cardiac lineage. I systematically investigated the effect of the origin of the genetic background in order to be clarified this novel technology prior to clinical progress. The iPS cells were analyzed and compared comprehensively with existing ES cell lines. In addition, practical approaches can be the basis for the researcher to improve the understanding on the reprogramming of the cells.

CHAPTER 2. LITERATURE REVIEWS

2.1 INTRODUCTION

Pluripotent cells have a potential to give rise into any of all three germ layers: endoderm (interior stomach lining, gastrointestinal tract, the lungs), mesoderm (muscle, bone, blood, urogenital), or ectoderm (epidermal tissues and nervous system). Pluripotent cells, however, cannot make an extra-embryonic tissue such as amnion, chorion, and placenta. Pluripotency by *in vivo*, is observed in early embryos while *in vitro*, pluripotency can be maintained in ES cells state which derived from inner cell mass (ICM) of blastocyst stage embryos (Figure 1a). These ES cells were first found from mouse embryos (Evans and Kaufman 1981; Martin 1981) which they can be unlimited proliferate and have the potential to develop into many different cell types.

The first breakthrough was when Takahashi and Yamanaka discovered the direct reprogramming of somatic cells to pluripotency state from mouse embryonic fibroblasts (MEF) to iPS cells (Figure 1b) by retroviral transduction of a select group of transcription factor (Takahashi and Yamanaka 2006). The discovery of these iPS cells gave a new insight in order to develop the stem cell research. This technology offers a significant technical simplicity and enables generate specific stem cell lines with reduce ethical concerns.

Recently, many new methods of generating iPS cells have advanced rapidly with less or no exogenous genetic modifications. Many research generated iPS cells with nearly identical functionally to ES cells by optimized iPS technology. However, the establishment of iPS lines is still low efficiency, remain to be characterized and many mechanism still unknown. Several approaches must be considered in order to reproduce the iPS cells including of many factors for example, reprogramming factors, delivery system, the donor cell type, culture condition method and identification and characterization.



Figure 1. Generation of pluripotent cells from ES and iPS cells.

2.2 ESTABLISHMENT FACTORS OF IPS CELLS

Mouse induced pluripotent stem cells (miPS cells) were first generated by introducing four transcription factor of Pou5f1 (Oct-4), Sex-determining region Y-Box2 (Sox-2), Krüpple-like factor 4 (Klf-4) and cellular-myelocytomatosis oncogene (c-Myc) via retroviral delivery coupled to reactivation of a neomycin-resistant reporter gene knocked into the Fbx15 locus (Takahashi and Yamanaka 2006). Initially, direct reprogramming was performed with 24 different factors which were implicated to have a potential role in the induction of pluripotency. These 24 factors was ultimately selected to four transcription factors, Oct-4, Sox-2, Klf-4 and c-Myc, that were sufficient to establishment and maintenance of the pluripotent state. Gene expression and epigenetic profiling demonstrating the iPS cells are similar, although not identical to ES cells. The iPS cloned is pluripotent and having the ability to differentiate into all three germ layers, endoderm, mesoderm and ectoderm (Takahashi and Yamanaka 2006). This reprogramming factor set has been shown to work in several of mouse cell types (Table 1, modified from Patel and Yang 2010; Okita and Yamanaka 2011).

2.1.1 Reprogramming factors

a. Oct-4

Oct-4 (Octamer-binding transcription factor-4, also known as Oct3/4 and Pou5f1) is a transcription factor known to play a key role in the maintenance and self-renewal of pluripotent cells. Oct-4 was first described as a protein present in unfertilized oocytes, ES cells and primodial germ cells (Scholer *et al.* 1989) which is an important factor for the development of the inner cell mass (ICM) both *in vivo* and *in vitro* (Nichols *et al.* 1998). Oct-4 is specially expressed in the pluripotent cells, such as ES cells. As such, it is frequently used as a marker for undifferentiated cells. The expression of Oct-4 by less than 2-fold increase in expression causes differentiation into primitive endoderm and mesoderm whereas repression of Oct-4 induces loss of pluripotency and de-differentiation to trophectoderm (Niwa *et al.* 2000). Oct-4 has been shown to have a various number of target genes, many of which possess regulatory elements for Sox-2 and Nanog (Boyer *et al.* 2005). In mouse and human stem cells, only Oct-4 transgene can generate the iPS cells although the reprogramming efficiency is dramatically low (Kim *et al.* 2009b).

b. Sox-2

Sox-2 (Sex-determining region Y-box 2), Sox-2, is a transcription factor involved in the selfrenewal of ES cells and is one of the key factor required in iPS cells. It has also an important factor which plays a role of maintenance pluripotent state of ES cells. In addition, Sox-2 is also expressed in the extra-embryonic ectoderm, trophoblast stem cells and the neural stem cells (Avilion et al. 2003). Furthermore, forced expression of Oct-4 can compensate for loss of Sox-2 in ES cells which may concluded that the primary role of Sox-2 in iPS cells is controlling Oct-4 expression (Masui et al. 2007). In mouse and human iPS cells, Sox-2 is dispensable for the reprogramming of neural stem cells, melanocytes and melanoma cells (Maherali and Hochedlinger 2009). Sox-2 is functionally redundant in part with other Sox family proteins, including Sox-4, Sox-11 and Sox-15 (Maruyama et al. 2005; Masui et al. 2007). In direct reprogramming, Sox-2 can be replaced by Sox-1, Sox-3 and, to a lesser extent, Sox-15 or Sox-18 (Nakagawa et al. 2008). However, iPS cells cannot be generated with the normal strategy in the absence of Sox transgenes. Recently, it has been shown that the transduction of Nanog gene could cover for the Sox-2 functional (Ichida et al. 2009). Therefore, exogenous Sox-2 is probably not essential for reprogramming. However, there is no many evidence of Sox dispensation in reprogramming and many approaches are different method in order to improve only reprogramming efficiency.

c. Klf-4

Klf-4 (Krüpple-like factor-4, Klf-4) is a transcription factor expressed in a variety of tissues, including the epithelium of the intestine, particularly the epithelium of the intestine, kidney and skin (Zhao *et al.* 2004). Klf-4 was first reported as one of the downstream targets of LIF/Stat3 signaling in mouse ES cells (Li *et al.* 2005). Depending on the target gene and interaction partner, Klf-4 can both activate and repress transcription (Rowland and Peeper 2006). It has been reported that constitutive expression of Klf-4 suppresses cell proliferation by blocking G1-S cell cycle. By functional, Klf-4 can be both as an oncoprotein and tumor suppressor (Zhao *et al.* 2004). In reprogramming process, it is not fully understood the exact role of Klf-4 and it also can be replaced with other Klf family members (Klf-2 and Klf-5) (Nakagawa *et al.* 2008) or the unrelated factors Nanog and Lin28 (Yu *et al.* 2007). Recently, it has been demonstrated that Klf-4 can be substituted with estrogen-related receptor beta (Esrrb) or gamma (Esrrg) in order to generate the mouse iPS cells derived from MEFs (Feng *et al.* 2009).

d. c-Myc

C-Myc, Cellular-Myelocytomatosis Oncogen, is a helix-loop-helix transcription factor that has been linked to several cellular functions including cell proliferation, cell-cycle regulation, growth, metabolism and differentiation (Schmidt 1999). C-Myc is a key regulator of cytostasis and apoptosis through repression of the cyclin-dependent kinase (CDK) inhibitor p21Cip1 (Seoane *et al.* 2002). C-Myc reportedly functions during both self-renewal and differentiation of stem cells and progenitor cells by interactions between stem cells and the local microenvironment (Masui *et al.* 2007). This transcription factor highly expressed in the majority of rapidly proliferating cells and it is generally low or absent during quiescence (Murphy *et al.* 2005). As a proto-oncogene, c-Myc greatly enhances reprogramming efficiency, although it is dispensable for generate the iPS cells in mouse and human (Huangfu *et al.* 2008; Kim *et al.* 2008; Nakagawa *et al.* 2008; Wernig *et al.* 2008b; Sridharan *et al.* 2009). To reprogram somatic cell to ES-like cell state, C-Myc also can be replace by other family members such as N-Myc and L-Myc (Nakagawa *et al.* 2008). C-Myc is expressed in most of the mouse and human cell types whereas the N-Myc and L-Myc are limited expressed. Nonetheless, the role of c-Myc is remaining unclear in direct reprogramming.

Variation on the four-factor cocktail have been used to successfully reprogram cells and with improved selection methods, these reprogrammed cells can contribute to germlines in chimeric mice (Maherali *et al.* 2007; Okita *et al.* 2007; Wernig *et al.* 2007). Furthermore, iPS cells derived from MEFs can produce cloned live pups by tetraploid complementation which is one of the strictest hurdles of pluripotency (Boland *et al.* 2009; Kang *et al.* 2009; Zhao *et al.* 2009). It has also been reported that a partially different set of reprogramming factors, Oct-4, Sox-2, Nanog and Lin28, is sufficient to establish human fibroblasts to an ES-like cell state (Takahashi *et al.* 2007b; Yu *et al.* 2007). These data suggested that the differentiation potentials of iPS cells are already equivalent to those ES cells. However, it has been showed that Sox-2 could be replaced with Sox-1, Sox-3, Sox-7, Sox-17, or Sox-18. It has also been demonstrated that Klf-4 was able to be substituted by Klf2 or Klf5. Furthermore, Myc family genes such as N-Myc and L-Myc mimic c-Myc function during direct reprogramming. However, Oct families such as Oct1 and Oct6 could not be replace for Oct-4 (Nakagawa *et al.* 2008).

Table 1. Summary of iPS cells derived from different cell type, reprogramming factors, and

 method in different species.

Species	Cell types	Factors ^a	Method	Efficiency (%)	Reference
Mouse	Embryonic and adult	OSKM	RV	0.02	Takahashi and
	fibroblasts				Yamanaka 2006
	Embryonic and tail tip	OSKM	RV	0.1	Wernig et al.
	fibroblasts				2007
	Embryonic fibroblasts	OSKM	LV	0.01	Okita <i>et al</i> .
					2007
	Embryonic fibroblasts	OSKM	PM	0.01	Okita <i>et al</i> .
					2008
	Fibroblasts	OSKM	RV	ND	Nakagawa <i>et al</i> .
					2008
	Multiple somatic tissues	OSKM	LV	0.1	Wernig et al.
					2008a, b
	B lymphocytes	OSKM	LV	> 0.5	Hanna <i>et al</i> .
					2008
	Hepatocytes and	OSKM	AV	0.1	Stadtfeld et al.
fibroblasts					2008a
	Neural stem cells		RV	0.02-	Kim et al. 2008
				0.05	
	Neural stem cells	0	RV	0.014	Kim <i>et al</i> .
					2009b
	Fibroblasts	OSKM	PB	ND	Kaji <i>et al</i> . 2009
	Mature B and T cells	OSKM	LV	0.02	Eminli <i>et al</i> .
					2009
	Myeloid progenitors	OSKM	LV	2	Eminli <i>et al</i> .
					2009
	Hematopoietic stem cells	OSKM	LV	13	Eminli <i>et al</i> .
					2009
Mouse	Dermal papilla	OKM	RV	1.4	Tsai <i>et al</i> . 2010
	Dermal papilla	OK	RV	0.02	Tsai <i>et al</i> . 2010

Species	Cell types	Factors ^a	Method	Efficiency (%)	Reference
Human	Fibroblasts	OSKM	RV	0.02	Takahashi et al.
					2007b
	Fibroblasts	OSNL	LV	0.02	Yu et al. 2007
	Keratinocytes	OSKM	RV	ND	Aasen et al.
					2008
	Fibroblasts	OSK	RV	0.002	Nakagawa <i>et al</i> . 2008
	Fibroblasts	OSKM	AV	< 0.001	Zhou and Freed 2009
	Fibroblasts	OSKM	SV	> 0.1	Fusaki <i>et al.</i> 2009
	Fibroblasts	OSKM NLT	EP	< 0.001	Yu <i>et al</i> . 2009
	Embryonic fibroblasts	OSKM	PB	< 0.01	Kaji <i>et al.</i> 2009; Woltjen <i>et al.</i> 2009
	Adipose stem cells	OSNL	М	< 0.001	Jia <i>et al</i> . 2010
	Keratinocytes and foreskin	OSKM	RNA	< 0.01	Warren <i>et al</i> .
	fibroblasts				2010
	Cord blood stem cells	OSKM		ND	Eminli <i>et al.</i> 2009
	Cord blood endothelial	OSLN	RV	0.01-	Haase <i>et al</i> .
	cells			0.03	2009
	Fibroblasts	OSKM	РТ	< 0.001	Kim <i>et al</i> . 2009
	Adipose stem cells	OSKM	RV	0.5	Sugii <i>et al</i> .
					2010
Human	Peripheral blood cells	OSKM	SV	< 0.01	Seki et al. 2012
Rat	Fibroblasts	OSKM	RV	0.05	Liao <i>et al</i> . 2009
	Liver progenitor cells	OSK	RV	ND	Li et al. 2009
	Neural progenitor cells	OSK	RV	0.01	Chang <i>et al</i> .
					2010

Species	Cell types	Factors ^a	Method	Efficiency (%)	Reference
	Embryonic fibroblasts	OSK	LV	ND	Hamanaka et al.
					2011
Pig	Embryonic fibroblasts	OSKM	RV	ND	Esteban et al.
					2009
	Fetal fibroblasts	OSKM	LV	0.1	Ezashi et al.
					2009
	Primary ear fibroblasts	OSKM	LV	ND	Wu, Z. et al.
					2009
	Primary ear fibroblasts	OSKM	PM	ND	Montserrat et
					al. 2011
Rhesus	Fibroblasts	OSKM	RV	ND	Liu, H. et al.
monkey					2008
Marmoset	Skin fibroblasts	OSKM	RV	0.1	Wu, Y. et al.
					2010
Rabbit	Adult fibroblasts	OSKM	LV	0.25-0.5	Honda <i>et al</i> .
		Ν			2010
Buffalo	Fetal fibroblasts	OSKM	RV	< 0.01	Deng <i>et al.</i>
					2012

^aO, *Oct-4*; S, *Sox-2*; K, *Klf-4*; M, c-Myc; N, Nanog; L, Lin28; T, SV40-large T-antigen; RV, Retrovirus; LV, Lentivirus; AV, Adenovirus; PB, *piggyBac* transposon; M, Minicycle; PM, Plasmid; SV, Sendai virus; EP, Episomal plasmid; PT, Protein

2.2.2 Delivery system

Although direct reprogramming is being widely studied because it presents a possibility of generating reprogrammed somatic cells just by introducing a set of gene. However, the efficiency of reprogramming is still low including the majority problems of using retroviruses may result in insertional mutagenesis within a genome. Therefore, to overcome the viral effect, various techniques are being explored to perform direct reprogramming in order to establish the integration-free iPS cell cloned and improve the reprogramming efficiency. Based on delivery system of the reprogramming factor, the method can be divided into three groups: integration, excisable and non-integration delivery system.

2.2.2.1 Integrative delivery systems

a. Retroviral delivery system

First generations of mouse and human iPS cells were produced via retroviral system (Takahashi and Yamanaka 2006; Takahashi *et al.* 2007a) and constitutive lentiviral transduction (Blelloch *et al.* 2007; Yu *et al.* 2007). The first attempts to deliver transcription factors into mouse or human fibroblasts originally used moloney murine leukaemia virus (MMLV)-based retroviral vectors. This system is known to undergo silencing in the ES cell state (Takahashi *et al.* 2007a; Wernig *et al.* 2007; Aasen *et al.* 2008). These self-silencing vectors have cloning capacities which allow to deliver genes into the genome of dividing cells and they are usually silenced in ES cells. Silencing is important to iPS cells because it has potentially up-regulated the endogenous pluripotency gene network and down-regulated the expression of the transgenes. This silencing can effected to be fully reprogrammed of iPS cells (Hotta and Ellis 2008). To reprogram cells with retroviruses, silencing occurs gradually during the course of iPS cell induction, resulting in a lowered efficiency of conversion compared to non-silencing viral methods (Stadtfeld *et al.* 2008b). The retroviruses-derived iPS cells are often maintained viral gene expression (Dimos *et al.* 2008; Park *et al.* 2008) thus limiting their utility.

Consequences by using retrovirus-based induction are: 1) random insertion of the viruses within a host genome, 2) requirement of proliferating cells for transduction and infectivity, 3) presence of a low titer number, 4) occurrence of insertion mutagenesis and 5) low transfection efficiency. Moreover, it is also difficult to store and control the quality of retroviruses. The

major disadvantage is that occurrence of tumours. It has been reported that viral transgene reactivation in iPS-derived chimeric mice has been implicated in tumorigenesis (Nakagawa *et al.* 2008). The integration site analysis of iPS cells yielded no common target or a pathway which indicates the genomic integration is not necessary for reprogramming (Aoi *et al.* 2008; Varas *et al.* 2009). The result of this derivation has confirmed in mouse iPS cells using transient delivery method (Okita *et al.* 2008; Stadtfeld *et al.* 2008c). Later, it had been used inducible lentiviruses to generate the iPS cells (Brambrink *et al.* 2008; Hockemeyer *et al.* 2008; Maherali and Hochedlinger 2008; Stadtfeld *et al.* 2008b).

b. Lentiviral delivery system

Lentiviruses have been used as a gene transfer vector since the discovery, they can infect both proliferating and non-proliferating cells. Lentiviruses can be used to integrate into the host chromosome without the viral gene expression in the target cells (Naldini *et al.* 1996). For non-dividing cell types, lentiviruses permit the transduction with high expression levels. However, the major disadvantage is that it is derived from immunodeficiency viruses which posses a safety concern, difficult to storage and quality control. Using lentivirus vectors also limit the size of insert. Generally, lentiviruses are derived from HIV which exhibit slightly higher cloning capacities and usually have higher infection efficiency than MMLV-based retroviruses. Tet-inducible reprogramming lentiviruses vectors have been successfully used in somatic cells to express different sets of reprogramming factors (Blelloch *et al.* 2007; Yu *et al.* 2007). It has been found the efficiency of reprogramming using lentiviral vectors is less effectively repressed compared to MMLV-base retroviral vectors in pluripotent stem cells but the main advantage that they present is their availability as inducible system.

Lentiviral vectors are efficient and reproducible, however, iPS cells line which generated using these vector carry randomly distributed viral transgene insertion (Varas *et al.* 2009). They could disrupt the expression of tumour suppressor genes if there are inserted nearby the open reading frames or disturb later the expression of oncogenes. Moreover, it complicates comparative analysis as they unavoidably generate heterogenous iPS cells line. In case of properly silenced, eventually it leads to tumours as viral transgenes can reactivated during differentiation or during the life time of transplanted or iPS cell-derived animal (Okita *et al.* 2007). Although iPS cells made with constitutive lentiviruses have been used (Blelloch *et al.* 2007; Yu *et al.* 2007), it is still unclear how differentiation proceeds during transgene

expression and also integrate into the host genome (Brambrink *et al.* 2008; Stadtfeld *et al.* 2008b), therefore integrative-viral delivery systems do not represents a safety method for therapeutic applications (Figure 2).



Modified from González et al., 2011. Nature Reviews Genetics.

Figure 2. A summary diagram of viral delivery methods.

2.2.2.2 Excisable delivery systems

In order to reprogram fibroblasts, the main problems of retrovirus-based system are oncogenicity and mutagenesis. Chimeric mice derived from iPS cells as well as their offsprings developed tumors, probably because the reactivation of the proviral c-Myc oncogene (Okita *et al.* 2007). Even thought to reprogram with three factors; Oct-4, Sox-2, Klf-4, iPS-derived animal did not develop tumors (Nakagawa *et al.* 2008), ectopic expression of any one of these genes may have deleterious consequences. Furthermore, retroviral integration itself may cause insertional mutagenesis and also may change the expression pattern of genes (Nair 2008). Therefore, non-viral vector for gene transfer are promising tools for genetic studies and therapies because of their high productivity and high safety. One of the approaches to overcome this limitation is utilization of transposons (Ivics and Izsvak 2006).

Transposon (or transposable element) is a DNA sequences that can change its relative position within the genome of a single cell. The mechanism of transposition can be either "copy-and-paste" or "cut-and-paste". Transposition can create phenotypically significant mutations and alter the cell's genome size (Mc 1950). Transposon are only one of several types of mobile genetic elements which they are assigned into 2 categories based on their mechanism of transposition: 1) retrotransposon that undergo transposition via an RNA intermediate and can be described as "copy-and-paste" mechanism of transposition, and 2) DNA transposon that move directly as DNA and can be described as "cut-and-paste" (Wicker *et al.* 2007). The transposon system consists of two components: a DNA element flanked by two terminal inverted repeats (IRs) and a transposase that catalyzes the transposase first bind to the IRs, then excise the DNA segment flanked by the IRs from the genome and finally reintegrates the segment into a new location (Ivics *et al.* 1997).

a. piggyBac (PB) transposon delivery system

Unlike viral vectors, this system does not require special storage or quality control conditions. It does not need to be prepared in high titers and does not have a limited lifetime. Its transfection efficiency is increased and commercial products for gene delivery are available. Another advantage of this system over viral vectors is the non-occurrence of viral infections. This system was first used to reprogram fibroblasts to iPS cells by using *piggyBac* transposon (Woltjen *et al.* 2009; Yusa *et al.* 2009). The PB transposition is host-factor independent and

has recently been demonstrated to be functional in various human and mouse cell lines (Ding *et al.* 2005; Wu *et al.* 2006; Cadinanos and Bradley 2007; Wang *et al.* 2008). The PB element was originally discovered from cabbage looper moth *Trichoplusia ni* cell line TN-368 as a repetitive element (Fraser *et al.* 1996). The PB transposon/transposase system requires only the inverted terminal repeats flanking a transgene and transient expression of the transposase enzyme to catalyze insertion or excision events (Fraser *et al.* 1996). Subsequently, it was isolated (Cary *et al.* 1989) and found to efficiently transpose in many different species (Lobo *et al.* 1999; Thibault *et al.* 2004; Ding *et al.* 2005). One important feature of the PB transposition is that it does not leave any footprints behind and it nearly always excises itself precisely when a transposition takes place (Elick *et al.* 1996; Fraser *et al.* 1996; Thibault *et al.* 2004). Furthermore, the PB transposon system has a very large cargo capacity. Up to 10 kb DNA fragments can be transposed without losing transposition efficiency (Ding *et al.* 2005).

Taking advantage of PB transposon system, they have recently demonstrated the generation of factor-free mouse iPS cells (Woltjen *et al.* 2009; Yusa *et al.* 2009), which were linked by 2A-self cleaving peptides. The approximately 20-amino acid-long 2A peptides from foot-and-mouth disease virus (F2A) and *Thosea asigna* virus (T2A) work as self-cleaving signals and enable expression of several gene products from a single transcript facilitating multi-gene delivery to target cells (Szymczak *et al.* 2004). By using PB system, they have induce mouse and human pluripotent stem cells from fibroblasts and subsequently they could remove transposon from their primay iPS cells by re-expressing transposase which PB excised without a footprint or any genetic alteration (Woltjen *et al.* 2009; Yusa *et al.* 2009). Among integrative methodologies, this approach is the only one that confirms a precise deletion of the transgenes, although alterations are sometimes observed in the integration site, which therefore need to verify the sequence (Park *et al.* 2008). Additional, the low error rate of this process allows for a seamless excision, but requires characterization of integration sites in iPS cells before and after transposon removal. It also remains unclear if transposase expression can induce non-specific alterations in iPS cells (Stadtfeld and Hochedlinger 2009).



Modified from González et al., 2011. Nature Reviews Genetics.

Figure 3. A summary diagram of non-viral delivery methods.

b. Sleeping Beauty (SB) transposon delivery system

Since Barbara McClintock (1950) discovered the DNA transposition in maize, many different transposable elements have been described and developed further as a tool for genetic analysis in a variety of organisms. SB was the first DNA transposon system discovered to be functional in mammalian cells (Mc 1950). SB transposon represents a type of mobile genetic element that belongs to the *Tcl/mariner* class of transposons. This SB transpose by DNA element movement. SB was assembled by combining fragments of silent and defective *Tc1/mariner* elements from salmonid fish, and probably resembles an ancestral transposon that had become inactivated during evolution (Ivics *et al.* 1997). One limitation of transposons of the mariner family, including SB, is that transposition efficiency decreases in the presence of an excess of transposase, a phenomenon termed "overproduction inhibition". Hence, the transposon-to-transposase ratio needs to be optimized (review in VandenDriessche *et al.* 2009).

The purpose of using SB transposon system can be considered as a vector delivery vehicles. This SB vector combines the advantages of viral vectors which directed integration of a single copy of a gene and with the advantage of non-viral vector as the absence of protein factors that can elicit adverse reactions (Liu et al. 2004). In contrast to viral vectors, SB transposon can also be maintained and propagated as plasmid DNA. This advantage also includes its reduced immunogenicity (Yant et al. 2000), improved safety/toxicity profiles (Ivics et al. 2007; Moldt et al. 2007; Walisko et al. 2008; VandenDriessche et al. 2009), and relaxed limitation on the size of expression cassettes (Zayed et al. 2004). The SB transposon system consists of two functional components: i) a transposon, specific part of DNA that made up of a gene interest flanked by terminal inverted repeats (IR), and ii) the transposase, a protein that mobilizes the transposon (Figure 4). During transposition occur, the SB transposase recognizes the ends of the IRs and catalyzes the excision from the delivered plasmid DNA, subsequently it then inserts the transposon into another DNA site. The transposase can be provided in *cis* or in *trans* in the form of a second plasmid (Review in Izsvak *et al.* 2010). The transposition-integration process occurs at TA dinucleotides by SB transposase cleaves the transposon-donor site at the flanking TA-dinucleotide basepairs. Note that the following integration, the original TA-dinucleotide basepair target sequence is duplicated on the both flanks of the transposon.



Mechanism of transposon transposition

Modified from Perry Hackett, 2011. Wikipedia.org

Figure 4. Mechanism of SB-mediated transposition.

Compared the SB transposon with retroviral vector (Schroder *et al.* 2002; Bushman 2003; Narezkina *et al.* 2004), or *piggyBac* transposon vector (Wilson *et al.* 2007), SB has very weak enhancer/promoter activity that could transcriptionally trans-activate neighboring gene sequences (Walisko *et al.* 2008). Recently, the hyperactive version of SB transposase designated SB100X, has been developed and characterized which approaches stable gene transfer efficiencies of integrating viral vectors (Mates *et al.* 2009). In contrast to retroviral (Narezkina *et al.* 2004), lentiviral (Schroder *et al.* 2002), recombinant adeno-associated viral vectors (Nakai *et al.* 2003), or PB transposon (Wilson *et al.* 2007), integration of SB transposon into the genome does not exhibit such biased integration pattern and has a random integration profile (Vigdal *et al.* 2002; Yant *et al.* 2005). These intrinsic advantages of the SB transposon system make it preferable choice as a stable gene delivery vector for both somatic or germ line transgenesis.

c. Plasmid delivery system

Many studies have the aim to avoid using viral vectors when considering iPS cells technology in therapeutic settings. Plasmid delivery system is an alterative non-viral vector transfection method in which to generated integration-free iPS cells (Kaji et al. 2009). Using of polycistronic vector, is a crucial improvement that allows the expression of several cDNAs from the same promoter. Kaji and colleagues successfully reprogrammed mouse fibroblasts to iPS cells by using a linearized 2A-peptide-based polycistronic vector flanked by *loxP* sites. They have been showed that single insertion of a single-copy polycistronic OSKM expression cassette were sufficient to achieve direct reprogramming. Once, reprogramming was achieved, the reprogramming cassette was then deleted with Cre recombinase in the between of loxP sites by transiently expression (Kaji et al. 2009). Additional, they succeed establishing reprogrammed human cell lines from embryonic fibroblasts by using the single-vector combined with PB transposon (Wang et al. 2008; Woltjen et al. 2009). This approach has a main advantage in order to delete the reprogramming factors and avoids the reactivation or constitutive expression of the reprogramming factors in iPS cells. These may improve the differentiation and reduce their oncogenic potential. Furthermore, this plasmid vectors have no tendency for chromosomal integration and gene expression from these vectors is transient (Figure 3).

However, efficiency of transduction is very much lower compared to viral system and it requires a large number of donor cells to obtain for certain cell types as substantially fewer donor cells receive the full set of reprogramming factors. Furthermore, it indicates that many clones obtaining transgene-deleted iPS cells are not necessarily straightforward as they represent reprogramming intermediates because many of colonies with the deletion start to differentiate (Kaji *et al.* 2009). The polycistronic vectors which allow reprogramming of somatic cells through a single insertion have been also used with integrative MMLV-derived retroviral vector (Rodriguez-Piza *et al.* 2010) and lentiviral vectors (Carey *et al.* 2009; Sommer *et al.* 2010). It showed that substantially reducing the number of genomic insertions compared with single factor expression viruses. By using *Cre-LoxP* system, such vectors represent a simply way to induce transgene-free iPS cells from various donor sources with higher transduction efficiencies than plasmid DNA. It has been shown these vectors effect on the differentiation potential of the resulting iPS cells (Sommer *et al.* 2010).

2.2.2.3 Non- integrative delivery systems

To avoid the permanent genetic modification resulting from integration of classical retroviruses or lentiviruses vectors, non-integrative approaches address a major limitation of iPS cells. The different approaches that are currently available can be subdivided into three categories: excisable, integration-defective viral and DNA-free delivery systems. Usually, the generation of the stable iPS cells requires several weeks to complete although the kinetics of reprogramming vary between different starting cell types and species.

a. Non-integration adenoviral delivery system

Adenoviral vectors were the first method to generate integration-free iPS cells. This method allows for transient and high-level expression of exogenous genes without integrating into the host genomes included avoids harmful effects of insertional mutagenesis and genetic alterations (Figure 3). However, the efficiency of using this system in mouse is approximately between 0.0001% and 0.0018% which is lower than retroviruses delivery system. It has been shown that iPS could generated from adult mouse hepatocytes and mouse embryonic fibroblast (Okita *et al.* 2008; Stadtfeld *et al.* 2008c). They were used adenoviral vector in order to generate transgene-free iPS cells contained 4 factor of reprogramming genes: Oct-4, Sox-2, Klf-4 and c-Myc without evidence of gene integration and also expressed endogenous pluripotency genes, produced teratomas and contributed to adult chimeras. Importantly, these reports proved that the principle of transient expression of the four classical reprogramming genes is sufficient to induced pluritpotent state in somatic cells as they showed DNA demethylation similar to that of reprogrammed cells.

b. Transient episomal delivery system

To improve further the reprogramming approaches, integration-defective viruses represent an alternative method based on direct delivery of non-replicating (Okita *et al.* 2008; Gonzalez *et al.* 2009; Jia *et al.* 2010) or replicating episomal vectors (Yu *et al.* 2009). These approaches are relatively easy to set up with standard laboratory and molecular biology experiences which avoid the time-consuming and labor-intensive production of viral particles. Especially they have been found that the iPS cell lines were free of plasmid integration even the efficiency of reprogramming are low by using serial transfection of two plasmid or single

plasmid expression OSKM set as polycistronic (Okita *et al.* 2008; Gonzalez *et al.* 2009). Because of a few cells received the appropriate amount of plasmid over the full reprogramming period that resulting in a low efficiency and no sign of plasmid integration. Furthermore, premature dilution of the vectors in actively proliferating cells or the active silencing of sequences contained in the backbone of these vector in mammalian cells leading to down-regulation of reprogramming factors (Pollack *et al.* 1980).

Yu and colleagues have been used oriP/Epstein-Barr nuclear antigen-1-based episomal vectors (oriP/EBNA1) to solve the problem of episome dilution through cell division (Yu et al. 2009). These vectors are maintained as stable extra-chromosome replications through the cell division and the cells were kept under selection conditions. It requires only cis-acting oriP elements, a trans-acting EBNA1 gene and a positive selection gene (Yates et al. 1984; Yates et al. 1985). They have been used three oriP/EBNA1 vectors expressing respectively, OCT4-SOX2-NANOG-KLF4, OCT4-SOX2-SV40LT-KLF4 and MYC-LIN28, by co-transfection to transduce the vector into donor cells (Figure 3). By removing, they successfully generated iPS colonies from HFFs in the absence of drug selection (Yu et al. 2009). However, the reprogramming efficiency by using oriP/EBNA1 vectors is extremely low as 3 of 6 colonies per million cells were transfected. The reason of these results can be explained with the facts that: such large plasmids (more than 12 kb) which their gradual loss efficiency through the cell division in the absence of drug selection, or may active silencing through DNA methylation in which resulting in low expression levels of reprogramming factors. As one of the reprogramming factors they used in this system is SV40LT antigen, potent viral oncoprotein, which is able to inactivate both p53 and the retinoblastoma pathways and can be caused tumorigenic in the generation of iPS lines. However, it still needs to be properly addressed for this aspect.

Minicircle vectors represent one of alternative method that is free of bacterial DNA and can be decreased the size of the reprogramming episomes. Minicircle vectors are supercoiled DNA molecules which lack a bacterial origin of replication and antibiotic resistance gene because their backbone is removed by PhiC31-mediated intramolecular recombination before purification (Chen *et al.* 2003; Chen *et al.* 2005). This method allows with high level expression of reprogramming factors as non-integrating and non-replicating episomes (Jia *et al.* 2010). This vector shows higher transfection efficiencies (their size is usually reduced by at least by 3 kb, the average size of the backbones usually found in episomal vectors) and longer ectopic expression of the transgenes due to lower activation of exogenous DNAsilencing mechanisms compared to plasmids. Jia and colleagues constructed plasmid (P2PhiC31-LGNSO) by cloning a 2A-peptide-based polycistronic cassette comprise with Oct-4, Sox-2, Lin28 and Nanog (OSLN), plus a GFP reporter gene and reprogrammed human adipose stem cells in 14-16 days with an average efficiency of ~0.005%. None of these iPS cell lines carried integration of these minicircle vectors analyzed by southern blot (Jia *et al.* 2010).

c. Proteins delivery system

To address the safety issues arose and avoid the introduction of exogenous genetic material into the target cells genome, protein delivery system is another way in which iPS cells can be generated with potentially reduced risks of unexpected genetic modification by the exogenous sequences in the donor cells (Zhou and Freed 2009). Previous studies have demonstrated that proteins can be directly delivered into cells in vitro and in vivo by fused them with a short peptide mediating their transduction, such as HIV trans-activation of transcription (Tat) and poly-arginine (Wadia and Dowdy 2002; Michiue et al. 2005; Inoue et al. 2006). In addition, many process of solubilisations and refolding techniques include expression in E. coli to bioactive proteins have been developed to allow facile and large-scale production of therapeutic proteins (Lafevre-Bernt et al. 2008). Using this approach to generate the recombinant proteins, Zhou and colleagues fused the recombinant OSKM proteins with a poly-arginine transduction domain at the C-terminus of four reprogramming factors. These proteins were subsequently expressed in inclusion bodies of E. Coli which then were solubilised, refolded and further purified. To test the cell permeability and stability of the proteins, MEFs were serial transduced with Oct-4-GFP reporter by recombinant proteins and examined cell morphology and protein presence by immunocytochemistry. They have been found that GFP positive colonies obtained if the histone deacetylate (HDAC) inhibitor valproic acid (VPA) was also added to the culture media (Zhou and Freed 2009).

Recently, they have also been generated iPS cells from human fibroblasts by fused each of OSKM factors with a Myc tag and a tract composed of 9 arginines, known as CPP (Kim *et al.* 2009). They could be generated stable HEK293 cell lines which express each of the four human OSKM reprogramming factors and applied the extracts of these cells to human neonatal fibroblasts for 8 hours per week in total of 6 weeks. In particular, the whole protein

extracts used in this study limited the concentrations of factors delivered into the donor cells in the absence of any chemical treatment. Compared with protein-miPS-derived cells (Zhou and Freed 2009), they were not generated when only recombinant proteins were used, it has also combined with the small molecule VPA. However, the generation of protein-hiPS-derived cells is still very slow kinetics, inefficient of reprogramming and requires further optimization. Moreover, the recombinant proteins used in this approach are usually difficult to reproducibly purify in the required amount of proteins and also make them difficult to use routinely in the laboratory although such protein-iPS derived cells can long-term self-renew and are pluripotent both *in vitro* and *in vivo* (Kim *et al.* 2009a; Zhou and Freed 2009).

d. RNAs delivery system

A more efficient and safer way of producing integration-free iPS cells may be the introduction of modified RNA molecules encoding for the reprogramming factors into somatic cells (Figure 3), which has been validated recently (Warren et al. 2010). This system requires modification of *in vitro* transcribed RNAs in order to escape the endogenous antiviral cell defence response to ssRNA. Phosphatase treatment, incorporation of modified ribonucleoside bases substituting 5 methylcytidine for cytidine and pseudo-uridine for uridine, combined with the addition of a recombinant version of B18R protein in the medium, allowed for high, dose-dependent levels of protein expression with high cell viability. This approach showed that multiple human cell types can be reprogram to pluripotent state with higher efficiency compared with other non-integrative system (2% of neonatal fibroblasts being converted into iPS cells in 17 days). By delivering synthetic RNAs encoding OSKM and Lin28, reprogramming was achieved by serial transfection of different donor populations using a cationic vehicle (Warren et al. 2010). This method developed a system that achieves the efficient conversion of different human somatic cells into iPS cells using direct delivery of systthetic mRNAs modified to overcome innate antiviral response. Moreover, this approach allows protein stoichiometry to be exquisitely regulated within cultures while avoiding the stochastic variation of expression typical of integrating vectors, as well as the uncontrollable effects of viral silencing. Although this system is extremely appealing for its simplicity and efficiency, the high gene dosages of the reprogramming factors resulting from direct mRNA delivery may represent an oncogeneic risk owing to higher expression levels of Myc affecting genomic stability (Warren et al. 2010).

Some of the non-integrative approaches are difficult to apply owing to poor infection or transfection efficiencies, poor cell survival, long reprogramming kinetics or other limitations depending on the starting population (Table 2). These methodologies consider underline one of the major drawbacks as they are usually inefficient and poorly reproducible which is the principle reason why no conclusion has yet been reached in the community regarding a method of choice (Review in Gonzalez *et al.* 2011). Although the kinetics of reprogramming varies between different starting cell types and species, the generation of stable iPS cells usually requires several weeks to complete.

Table 2	. Advantages	and disadvantages	of method of	delivery system
1 4010 -	n i ia (alleages	and aroug antagos		aoni or jogotom

METHOD	ADVANTAGES	DISADVANTAGE
Moloney-based retrovirus	Silenced in pluripotent cells	Genomic integration (Many viral
		integrations, fewer integration with
		polycistronic system)
	Self-silencing eliminates need	Risk of insertional mutagenesis
	for timed factor withdrawal	
	Very efficient and stable	Limited to dividing cells
		Expression often maintained in iPS cells
		Increased tumor incidence in
		chimeric mice due to transgene reactivation
Lentivirus	Constitutive, inducible	Genomic integration
	Transduction of both dividing	Risk of insertional mutagenesis
	Very efficient and stable	state
	Temporal control over factor	Possibility of leaky expression
	expression	
	Integrate-Deficient	Lower expression levels than
		integrated form
	Low frequency of genomic	Integration provides selective
	integration	advantage and necessitates clone
		screening
		Possible long terminal repeat
		integration close to oncogene
Adenovirus	No genomic integration	Repeated infection required for
		certain cell types
	Transgene-free and vector free	Delayed kinetics of reprogramming
		Slow and inefficient
Transposon	Transgene-free and vector-free	Genomic integration
	Average efficiency	Negative selection strongly advised
Plasmid DNA	Transgene-free and vector-free	Genomic integration
	Average efficiency	Negative selection strongly advised

METHOD	ADVANTAGES	DISADVANTAGE
Transient transfection	No genomic integration	Multiple rounds of transfection are
		required
	Transgene-free and vector-free	Slow and inefficient
	Low frequency of genomic	Lower levels of expression than
	integration	when integrated
	Technically simple procedure	Delayed kinetics of reprogramming
		Integration provides selective
		advantage and necessitates clone
		screening
RNA	Transgene-free and vector-free	Multiple transfections required
	No genomic integration	
	No need to screen numerous colonies	
	All integration-free as efficient as	
	retrovirus	
Protein transduction	Direct delivery of transcription	Slow and inefficient
	factors avoids complications of	
	nucleic-acid-based delivery	
		Some proteins difficult to purify and
		short half-life
		Multiple applications
		required

Modified from Maherali and Hochedlinger, 2008; González et al., 2011.

2.2.3 Donor cell types

An important consideration for iPS technology is determining an appropriate starting somatic cell type. A majority of iPS studies uses fibroblast cells, most likely due to their ease of derivation and extensive use in SCNT and fusion-based reprogramming studies (Wakayama and Yanagimachi 1999; Tada *et al.* 2001). Various other starting somatic cell populations have been used for iPS induction in mouse including adult stomach and liver cells (Aoi *et al.* 2008), embryonic or newborn neural progenitor cells (Eminli *et al.* 2008; Kim *et al.* 2008), pancreatic β cells (Stadtfeld *et al.* 2008a), mature B lymphocytes (Hanna *et al.* 2008) and bone marrow hematopoietic cells (Kunisato *et al.* 2010). An important observation from these studies is that the somatic cell type chosen had a significant influence on the efficiency of iPS generation and the level of reprogramming. Similarly, for human somatic cells, fibroblasts (Takahashi *et al.* 2007b; Yu *et al.* 2007), keratinocytes (Aasen *et al.* 2008), and blood cells

(Giorgetti *et al.* 2009; Haase *et al.* 2009; Loh *et al.* 2009), neural progenitor cells (Kim *et al.* 2008) and adipose cells (Sun *et al.* 2009) have been reported to yield successful iPS populations.

Although these iPS cell lines have been shown to express pluripotency genes and support the differentiation into cell types of all three germ layers, the molecular and functional differences were detected among iPS-derived cells from different cell types. In mice, for example, iPS cells produced from stomach and liver cells showed different propensities to form tumors. To identified persistent donor cell-specific gene expression patterns from different cell types, suggesting an influence of the somatic cell of origin on the molecular properties of resultant iPS cells (Ghosh et al. 2010). To resolve the question whether iPS cells produced from different cell types are molecularly and functionally equivalent is crucial for using these cells in modelling disease and therapeutic settings. The identification of somatic cells influence on the differentiation capacities of resultant iPS cells into desired cell lineages, need to be further study (Maehr et al. 2009). Different tissues show variable susceptibility to reprogramming. This may reflect an epigenetic memory retained by the iPS cells from the parental donor somatic cell type. Keratinocytes reprogram more readily than fibroblasts (Maherali et al. 2008), and iPS cells from stomach or liver cells harbour fewer integrated proviruses than fibroblasts, indicating that they require lower levels of the reprogramming factors to achieve pluripotency (Aoi et al. 2008). When iPS cells from adult tail-tip fibroblasts differentiated into neurospheres, they retain more teratoma-forming cells than iPS cells from embryonic fibroblasts that indicated again the heterogeneity based on the tissue of origin (Miura et al. 2009). Moreover, cells can exist in intermediate states of reprogramming with continuous passage or treatment with chromatin-modifying agent (Mikkelsen et al. 2008).

Although the iPS cells are highly similar to ES cells, but not all iPS cells generated from various tissues may harbor functional and molecular different. Mikkelsen *et al.* performed a detailed analysis on several partially reprogrammed clonal cell lines (e.g. MCV8, MCV6, BIV1). MCV8 cells express SSEA-1 pluripotency marker, however, critical endogenous genes, *Oct-4*, *Sox-2* and Nanog, remain inactive (Mikkelsen *et al.* 2008). Analysis of the methylation status of *Oct-4* and Nanog genes, that promoter are methylated in somatic cells and demethylated in iPS and ES cells, indicates that these promoters remain largely methylated in partially reprogrammed cells. Failure to demethylate pluripotency genes is associated with intermediate or partial states of reprogramming (Wernig *et al.* 2008b; Chin *et al.* 2008b; Ch

al. 2009). Knock down of the maintenance methyltransferase DNMT1 or treatment with the demethylating agent 5-aza-cytidine (AZA) can convert intermediate states to full pluripotency. AZA is a methyltransferase inhibitor shown to impede the maintenance of CpG methylation at promoters of essential pluripotency genes, such as *Oct-4* (Mikkelsen *et al.* 2008). The choice of cell type is therefore one of an important aspect to consider before starting any experiment. It will usually depend on cell availability and will affect later the requirement of ectopic factors, the efficiency and kinetics of reprogramming, and the quality of the resulting iPS cells.

2.2.4 Culture condition methods

After decide on the combination of reprogramming factors that are suited to a specific cell types. Later, a key aspect of a successfully reprogram is the culture conditions. The culture conditions which supportive cells and medium compositions are all parameters that have been shown to modulate reprogramming efficiencies. Regarding to maintain the pluripotency state, iPS cells also require the same culture conditions as those of ES cells. Both mouse and human iPS cells can be maintained in the pluripotent stage when supported by feeder cells or addition of LIF (mouse) and bFGF (human) into the medium for self-renewal (Thomson *et al.* 1998; Maherali *et al.* 2007; Okita *et al.* 2007; Takahashi *et al.* 2007a; Wernig *et al.* 2007; Yu *et al.* 2007; Ying *et al.* 2008).

There will be an important toward creating defined and xeno-free cultures in efforts to generate iPS cells which will be more suitable for clinical used. It has been reported to improve the reprogramming of mouse fibroblast by use of knockout serum replacement instead of fetal bovine serum (Blelloch *et al.* 2007). However, it is unsuitable to use a knockout serum replacement because variability of serum batches and may not elicit reproducible effects to reprogramming of the cells. Therefore, it is important to screen the serum batch-to-batch for supportive capacity (review in (Maherali and Hochedlinger 2008). The ES cells conditions rely on fibroblast-derived factors which support their growth and maintain their pluripotency. However, mouse ES cells can be derived and cultured on gelatin-coated dish without any feeders and addition of growth factos (Ying *et al.* 2008) and similar with mouse iPS cells which can also be derived under feeder-free culture conditions (Stadtfeld *et al.* 2008b; Wernig *et al.* 2008a).

Wnt signaling also supports the self-renewal of ES cells. Adding medium conditioned by cells expressing WNT3a with Wnt3a or CHIR99021 also promotes the generation of iPS cells in the absence of Myc (Marson et al. 2008; Li et al. 2009). In the combination of glycogen synthase kinase (GSK3) and mitogen activated protein kinase (MAPKK also known as MEK) inhibitors not only support self-renewal of iPS cells in the serum- and feeders-free but it is also improve the reprogramming efficiency (Silva et al. 2008). Additional, optimal seedingcell density need to create for achieves the suitable culture conditions. As low cells density may senesce and can be less amenable to reprogramming. Whereas high cells seeding can quickly become over-confluent and hindering the outgrowth of the new colonies which posing the risk of cell layer lifting, particularly in prolonged culture during reprogramming process (review in (Maherali and Hochedlinger 2008). Oxygen tension is also important for stem cell maintenance and differentiation. It has been reported that iPS cell induction preformed under hypoxic conditions (5% O₂) showed the enhancement of reprogramming efficiency of mouse and human cells up to fourfold. Furthermore, the reprogramming efficiency increases to 200fold in mouse cells when combined with VPA (Yoshida et al. 2009). Furthermore, serum-free medium (KK20) allows iPS cells to be obtained at an earlier time point by testing different culture conditions (Okada et al. 2010). Modifications of culture conditions, may also increase the efficiency and rate at which somatic cells are reprogrammed (Cox and Rizzino 2010). Therefore, it has a various questions that need to be considered before initiate the reprogramming process such of which reprogramming factor, which delivery method and which cell type should be used.

2.2.5 Identification and characterization

To identify whether iPS cells are equivalent to ES cells, is a complex and unresolved question. As genetic or epigenetic abnormalities may influences iPS cells during differentiation and/or transplantation. Several approaches have been made in order to achieve the effective and therapeutically compatible methods to identify and obtain reprogrammed cells. The biological assays are a criteria used to compare ES cells and iPS cells, for example, the development potency testing including molecular assays that are used to compare epigenetic status and gene expression. In the first report to generate mouse iPS cells, it was obtained via selection for ESC specific gene, Fbx15, which is nonessential. It was used a selection system whereby only cells that reactivated ES cell-specific genes could survive
during the reprogramming (Takahashi and Yamanaka 2006). Even the cells showed pluripotency in term of teratoma formation, iPS cells were still not fully reprogrammed as they could not generate chimera mouse. Also, they have different the gene expression profiles and DNA methylation status compared to ES cells. Later, it has been found that the selection for ES cell-specific genes are Oct-4 and Nanog which permitted the iPS cells were much more similar to ES cells (Maherali *et al.* 2007; Okita *et al.* 2007; Wernig *et al.* 2007).

In the level of cellular biological level, morphological criteria are the one of classical assays to identify reprogrammed cells equivalent to ES cells. Generally, mouse ES cells colonies can be indicated by their appearance as large nucleolus, scant cytoplasm, shiny, tight packed and round shape with clear borders, while human ES cells colonies show a cobblestone shape, tightly-packed colonies with pronounced individual cell borders and prominent nucleoli. The stepwise morphological changes have been depicted during reprogramming both in mouse (Stadtfeld *et al.* 2008b) and human (Maherali *et al.* 2008). In case of human fibroblast reprogramming, it was noted that morphologically is similar to ES cells but non-iPS cell colonies also arise during the time course of reprogramming. These colonies are distinguished from other iPS cells as they are display granular and loose shape in appearance (Takahashi *et al.* 2007b; Lowry *et al.* 2008). Furthermore, the cellular biological level assays include also growth rate properties were equal to ES cells. They expressed stem cells markers specific to ES cells, and expressed gene which specific to undifferentiated ES cells.

The iPS and ES cells have been functionally compared for pluripotency at molecular level which shown a high degree of similarity between iPS cells and ES cells. These studies included profiling of genome-wide expression pattern, global gene expression, modifications of histone tails, X-chromosome inactivation and global differences of DNA methylation (Maherali *et al.* 2007; Okita *et al.* 2007; Wernig *et al.* 2007; Mikkelsen *et al.* 2008). However, some studies using global expression analyses concluded that even iPS cells are a unique pluripotent cells but they are still retain a consistent gene expression signature distinguishable from ES cells (Chin *et al.* 2009). The re-analysis of a large collection of gene expression and histone modification profiles led to the conclusion that small variations between iPS cells and ES cells in global gene expression and chromatin structure may constitute experimental "noise" (review in Hanna *et al.* 2008) and do not reflect a consistent signature differences iPS cells from ES cells (Guenther *et al.* 2010; Newman and Cooper 2010).

Assays for developmental potency are considered to be a crucial for concluding the pluripotent state which is capable fully differentiate into differentiated tissues in a similar term to ES cells. Particularly in mice, chimera formation and germline contribution are used to determine the developmental potential of iPS cells. Recently, it has been shown that iPS cells can indeed contain the same developmental potential as ES cells by produce iPS mice by tetraploid complementation (Boland et al. 2009; Kang et al. 2009; Zhao et al. 2009). Recently, it has shown that repression of maternally imprinted gene cluster, Dlk1-Dio3, may distinguish the functional level between mouse iPS cells from ES cells (Stedtfeld et al., 2010a). These experiments suggest that reprogramming is complete in some cases of mouse iPS cells, for example, the ES cells or iPS cells that show normal expression at this locus are able to contribute the entirely animal in the tetraploid complementation assay. While those ES or iPS cells that do not show normal expression of these genes are incapable for the tetraploid complementation assay (Liu, L. et al. 2010). Although, these non-coding RNAs show interesting 'landmark' of reprogramming, the conclusions need to be address on this issue as it have just begun the explored. Thus, it will be an important to minimize requirement and methodology criteria that define the safety of reprogramming cells for disease research and clinical use.

2.3 APPLICATION

Towards clinical application of iPS cells, including the potential of iPS cells to generate all lineage of the embryo and to contribute germline chimera, the iPS cells have a differentiation ability comparable to ES cells. Furthermore, iPS cells have already been differentiated into various differentiated cell lineages such as neurons, cardiomyocytes and hematopoietic cells (Hanna *et al.* 2007; Dimos *et al.* 2008; Wernig *et al.* 2008b). At present in the iPS cells technology, it is still difficult to address the suitable reprogramming methods that fulfill for all purpose. Especially, in order to consider in the mechanisms of reprogramming and to generate clinically relevant iPS cells. Currently, many researches have been shown the differences between iPS and ES cells which is further support the evidence that the reprogramming process requires a vast variety of molecular changes. Furthermore, it is too difficult to describe that the cells can either be only partial reprogramming or fully reprogramming without any effect of epigenetic memory.

Recently, it has been generated iPS cells and differentiated into motor neuron from patients with amyotryophic lateral sclerosis (ALS) (Dimos *et al.* 2008). This study demonstrated that patient specific iPS cells posses properties of ES cells and can be fully reprogrammed. Furthermore, the iPS cells have also been generated for drug testing and disease. The iPS cells were generated from several of genetic diseases from patient with adenosine deaminase deficiency-related severe combined immunodeficiency (ADA-SCID), Shwachman-Bodian-Diamond syndrome (SBDS), Gaucher disease (GD) type III, Duchenne (DMD) and Becker muscular dystrophy (BMD), Parkinson disease (PD), Huntington disease (HD), juvenileonset, type 1 diabetes mellitus (JDM), Down syndrome (DS)/trisomy 21 and the carrier state of Lesch-Nyhan syndrome (Park *et al.* 2008). These patient specific-derived iPS lines can be used to compare with normal cell lines in order to understand at molecular mechanism level of disease conditions. Furthermore, iPS technology can also be applies for drug screening in treatment approach.

Several studies have now been successfully generated human iPS cells *in vitro* for disease models which they mainly focus on genetically inherited disease of neurological and cardiovascular disease (Dimos *et al.* 2008; Park *et al.* 2008; Ebert *et al.* 2009; Soldner *et al.* 2009; Hu and Zhang 2010; Moretti *et al.* 2010; Swistowski *et al.* 2010). The primary human fibroblasts were successfully reprogrammed from sporadic PD patients (Park *et al.* 2008;

Soldner *et al.* 2009) and differentiated into dopaminergic (DA) neurons (Chambers *et al.* 2009; Soldner *et al.* 2009). They have been reported that functional DA neurons could be efficient reprogrammed from human iPS cells with validated scalable method (Swistowski *et al.* 2010). Subsequent iPS studies have also outlined approach to produce functional and relative pure populations of motor neurons from patient with Spinal Muscular Atrophy (SMA) (Ebert *et al.* 2009) and ALS (Dimos *et al.* 2008). Recently, Hu and Chang were established functional spinal motor neurons by chemically defined protocol. (Hu and Zhang 2010)

In addition, cardiomyocytes derived from iPS cells also provide the new possibilities to study of cardiac disease. It has been reported that iPS-derived cardiomyocytes from fibroblasts of patient with Timothy syndrome could be reprogrammed (Yazawa *et al.* 2011). Several studies have also been improved the reprogramming efficiency with small molecules which make a new attractive approach for further research (Ruau *et al.* 2008; Ebert *et al.* 2009; Ichida *et al.* 2009). However, the generations of somatic cells into iPS cells of patient and differentiated cell lineages are not the same which means the epigenetic memory from different cell types may effect the reprogramming and accuracy in order to apply for disease model. Although these advances remain the challenging to address the therapeutic effect and clinical safety relevant, the iPS technology still offers significant potential to overcome the obstacles in the field of therapeutic medicine, disease models and patient-specific drug screening.

CHAPTER 3. MATERIALS AND METHODS

All chemicals were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich (St Louis, MO, USA) and culture reagents were purchased from Invitrogen Life Technologies (Carlsbad, CA, USA), unless otherwise specified. Cells were cultured at 37°C in humidified atmosphere containing 5% CO₂. Medium was changed daily on mouse ES and iPS cell cultures and every two days during differentiation.

3.1 PLASMID CONSTRUCTION

The SB transposon-based expression vector (Figure 5) was constructed as follows. First, an IRES/eGFP cassette was cut at BsrGI/EcoRI sites from the pEF-GFP construct (Matsuda and Cepko 2004) (Addgene plasmid 11154) and inserted into the EcoRI/EcoRV sites in the SB transposon vector pT2BH (Ivics *et al.* 1997). Second, an EF1 α promoter which was also obtained from the pEF-GFP construct was cut at PacI/EcoRI sites and inserted into the pT2BH-IRES/eGFP construct at the EagI/EcoRI sites. Third, the OSKM fragment from the FUW-OSKM constructs (Carey *et al.* 2009) (Addgene plasmid 20328) was cut at EcoRI sites, and then inserted into the pT2BH-IRES/eGFP (SB-OSKM).



Figure 5. A *Sleeping Beauty* transposon-mediated gene construct used for reprogramming; expression transposon construct (a) and transposase constract (b)

3.2 CELL CULTURE

Primary mouse embryonic fibroblasts (MEFs) were prepared from 13.5 d.p.c mouse fetuses derived from three different genetic backgrounds: C57Bl6 inbred, C57Bl6xDBA/2J F1 hybrid, and ICR outbred using standard protocols (Robertson 1987). MEFs were cultured in FM medium (Dulbecco's Modified Eagle's Medium (DMEM, Gibco) supplemented with 10% (v/v) fetal bovine serum (FBS, HyClone) and 50 U/mL penicillin, 50 µg/mL streptomycin). ES cells and iPS cells were cultured in ES medium (DMEM supplemented with 15% (v/v) FBS (Sera Laboratories International, West Sussex, RH17 5PB, UK), 1,000 U/mL mouse leukemia inhibitory factor (LIF, ESGRO, Chemicon International), 0.1 mM nonessential amino acids (NEAA, Gibco BRL, Life Technologies), 0.1 mM β -mercaptoethanol (β -ME, Gibco) and 50 U/mL penicillin, 50 µg/mL streptomycin). Mouse ES cells and iPS cells were cultured MEFs in serum-based ES medium or on 0.1% gelatin-coated dishes. All the cells were passaged with 0.25% trypsin, 0.1% EDTA and cultured at 37°C in a CO₂ incubator.

3.3 REPROGRAMMING OF MEFS USING SB VECTORS

MEFs were seeded onto 6-well plates at a density 5×10^5 cells/well one day prior to transfection in FM medium without antibiotics. The next day (day 0), 4 µg of pT2BH- EF1 α -OSKM-IRES/eGFP expression vector and 0.4 µg of transposase (SB100X (Mates *et al.* 2009)) were co-transfected using Lipofectamine2000 (Invitrogen) according to the manufacturer's instructions. On day 2, transfected MEFs were trypsinized with 0.25% trypsin, 0.1% EDTA and re-plated onto 10 cm³ tissue culture dishes containing mitomycin-C treated MEFs at a split ratio of 1:10 in ES medium. The medium was replaced every other day. On day 14, colonies were either analyzed for alkaline phosphatase (as stated by Kobolak *et al.* 2010) and counted, or picked and further expanded for other characterization analyses (Figure 6).



Figure 6. Timeline of SB transposon-mediated reprogramming

3.4 EB FORMATION

To form embryoid body (EB), the ES and three different genetic backgrounds of iPS cells were cultured on feeder cells for at least one cell passage. EBs were made by use of the hanging drop method (Rungarunlert *et al.* 2009). Briefly, on the starting day of differentiation, ES and iPS cells were trypsinized with 0.25% trypsin, 0.1% EDTA. EBs were formed in hanging drops (Figure 7) by placing 800 cells in 20 μ l of differentiation medium (ES medium without LIF) on the lid of Petri-dishes, the dish bottom was filled with PBS to prevent drying the cell droplets. On day 2, EBs were collected and placed into 10 mg/ml poly 2-hydroxyethyl methacrylate (poly 2-HEMA) treated-bacterial dishes and maintained in differentiation medium for 2 days.



Figure 7. Hanging drop method

3.5 IN VITRO CARDIAC DIFFERENTIATION ASSAY

By spontaneously differentiation, individual EB was placed into a well of 24-well plate containing 0.1% gelatin coated cover-slips on day4 after hanging drop (Figure 7). The differentiation medium was changed every second day. The EBs were cultured for a further 14 days and observed for beating cells daily under phase-contrast microscope.

3.6 IN VITRO NEURONAL DIFFERENTIATION

Mouse pluripotent cells were induced to differentiate into neuronal lineage previously described with some modifications (Bibel *et al.*, 2007). Mouse ES and iPS cells were disaggregated with 0.25% Trypsin into single cells, then seeded at density 3×10^5 cells/ml of differentiation medium onto a bacteriological Petri Greiner dish pre-coated with Poly 2-

hydroxyethyl methacrylate (Poly-HEMA) to prevent EBs attachment. First step (Day0-8), iPS cells were allowed to aggregated as EB formation for 4 days. Then EBs were cultured in differentiated medium supplemented with 5 μ M all-trans retinoic acid for additional 4 days. Second step (Day8-14), eight days old EBs were dissociated and plated on Poly-L-ornithine and laminin (Roche, CA) coated dishes at a density of 2×10^5 cells/cm² in Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium: Nutrient Mixture F-12 (DMEM/F-12) containing 3 mg/ml D-(+)-Glucose, 3 mg/ml AlbuMaxI, 50 U penicillin/ml, 50 μ g streptomycin/ml, 1% N2 supplement and 10 ng/ml recombinant human FGF basic (bFGF) for 2 days neuronal precursor culture before changing medium into DMEM/F12 : Neurobasal medium (1:1), 1 mM glutamax, 3 mg/ml AlbuMaxI, 50 U penicillin/ml, 50 μ g streptomycin/ml, 0.5% N₂ supplement and 1% B27 supplement. The medium was renewed every second days until day 14.

3.7 IN VIVO DIFFERENTIATION

Chimera production was used to examine the potential of iPS cell to differentiate *in vivo*. The standard method of stem cells preparation for injection has already been described previously (Nagy *et al.* 2003). Chimeras were produced by injection of 6-8 iPS cells into the perivitelline space of 8-cell stage embryos by using a laser system (Hamilton Thorne, Inc., XY Clone). Host embryos were obtained from ICR [(in case of F1 and C57Bl/6 iPS cells) and C57BL/6xDBA/2J (in case of ICR iPS)] mice and were collected at the 8-cell stage. Manipulated chimeric embryos were cultured in KSOM medium until the blastocyst stage and transferred into uterine horns (6-10 blastocysts in each horn of the uterus) of 2.5day pseudopregnant recipients. Pregnancy was allowed to progress to term, followed by spontaneous parturition. Phenotypically coat color chimeras were naturally mated with ICR mice for testing germline transmission.

3.8 RT-PCR ANALYSIS

Total RNA was collected using the RNeasy Mini Kit (Qiagen) from ES and iPS cells. One µg of total RNA was reverse-transcribed using an oligo (dT) primer by SuperScript III Reverse Transcriptase (Invitrogen), and subjected to PCR using primers listed in Table 3. Standard PCR conditions were 94 °C for 30 s, 55–62 °C for 30 s, 72 °C for 10 s; for 30–35 cycles. RT-PCR was performed using Gene Amp® PCR System 9700 (AB Applied System).

Primer sequence	Sequence 5'-> 3'
Oct-4	
Forward	GAGGAGTCCCAGGACATGAA
Reverse	AGATGGTGGTCTGGCTGAAC
Sox-2	
Forward	ACCAGCTCGCAGACCTACAT
Reverse	GTGGGAGGAAGAGGTAACCA
Klf-4	
Forward	GTGCCCCAAGATTAAGCAAG
Reverse	CGGGACTCAGTGTAGGGGTA
c-Myc	
Forward	TCCTGTACCTCGTCCGATTC
Reverse	GGTTTGCCTCTTCTCCACAG

Table 3. RT-PCR primer sequences

3.9 IMMUNOFLUORESCENCE STAINING

For immunofluorescence staining of the cells, cells were plated onto 0.1% gelatin-coated coverslips and fixed with 4% paraformaldehyde for 15 minutes at room temperature. Cells were permeabilized using 0.05% Triton-X100 for 10 minutes at room temperature, followed by 1% bovine serum albumin (BSA) for 1 hour at room temperature. Cells were washed with PBS and incubated with primary antibody overnight at 4°C. Primary antibodies used for this study include: Oct-4 antibody (C-10, 1:100, Santa Cruz), Nanog antibody (1:20, R&D), SSEA-1 (480, 1:100, Abcam), cardiac Troponin T (1:200, Abcam), Desmin (1:200, Abcam), Nestin (Rat-401, dilution: 1:200, DSHB) and β-III Tubulin (Tuj1, dilution 1:2,000; Covance, PRB-435P). Following 3 washes with PBS, cells were labeled with Alexa Flour®594-conjugated secondary antibodies (Invitrogen) for 1 hour at room temperature. Cells were then washed 3 times with PBS and covered with DAPI mounting medium (VectaShield, Vector Laboratories). The cells were analyzed and imaged by using a Zeiss AxioImager Z1 microscope (Carl Zeiss MicroImaging GmbH, Germany).

CHAPTER 4. RESULTS

4.1 GENERATION OF IPS CELLS USING THE SB TRANSPOSON SYSTEM

4.1.1 Transfection of Sleeping Beauty transposon-mediated construct into MEFs

In order to deliver the reprogramming cassette to the fibroblast, I constructed SB transposonbased reprogramming vectors (Figure 5). The reprogramming factors (c-Myc, Klf-4, Oct-4 and Sox-2) were cloned into the pT2BH *Sleeping Beauty* transposon plasmid under the transcriptional control of the EF1 α constitutively active promoter. In order to minimize the number of integration sites, I used a polycistronic expression cassette where the four factors were separated by 2A peptides (Carey *et al.* 2009). The construct were linked with green fluorescent protein (GFP) using an IRES sequence, which allowed us to monitor the transgene expression. As a negative control for iPS generation, SB-GFP were used the same transposon construct, which expressed only GFP (Figure 8).



Figure 8. GFP expression resulting after co-transfection with SB-GFP (control) and SB-

OSKM with SB-100X transposase.

4.1.2 Generation of iPS cell colonies

I next investigated whether SB transpons carrying 4 factors could induce reprogramming in mouse fibroblasts from three different genetic backgrounds. In order to evaluate the effect of the genetic background on the generation of iPS cells, mouse embryonic fibroblasts (MEFs) were used from three genetic backgrounds, an outbred (ICR), an inbred (C57BL/6) and an F1 hybrid (C57BL/6 x DBA/2J). The work flow is illustrated in Figure 6. The MEFs were transfected with the transposon construct containing the polycistronic reprogramming cassette in the presence of SB100X hyperactive transposase (Mates *et al.* 2009) by using Lipofectamine 2000. Iused co-transfection with 4 μ g of SB transposon-expression vector and 0.4 μ g of SB-100X transposase vector in 6-well plate. Two day post transduction, MEFs were replated onto a mitomycin-C treated feeder-layer at a split ratio 1:10 and cultured using serum-based ES medium.



Figure 9. Morphology of iPS cell colonies generated from three different genetic backgrounds at day 14 after transfection.

Under this condition, GFP expressing iPS-like colonies appeared 10-12 days after transfection. At day 14, colonies were sufficiently large to be picked (Figure 9). On day 14, I picked colonies which could be cultured and passaged repeatedly, resulting in the establishment of several stable cell lines. I did not observe a significant difference in the colony appearance, nor in the reprogramming efficiency among the three different genetic backgrounds. All ES cell-like colonies were positive for GFP expression (Figure 9) as well as AP staining (Figure 10), indicating successful reprogramming of these colonies.



Figure 10. Alkaline phosphatase staining of day14 colonies from three different genetic backgrounds

4.2 CHARACTERIZATION OF IPS CELLS

This study characterized 6 lines in depth from each genetic background for pluripotent characteristics. To study the undifferentiated state of iPS cells lines, each iPS cell line first were scored for morphology, growth rate, GFP expression and alkaline phosphatase activity (Table 4). The colonies were picked from the cultured and established as primary iPS cell lines, which were further characterized and observed that are indistinguishable from ES cells.

					In vitro differentiation		In vivo
ES/iPS lines	Morphology	Growth	GFP	AP	EBs	cardiac cells	differentiation
		rate	expression	staining		(Beating rate)	Chimera test
F1 ES	+++	+++	-	+++	+++	11/23 (48%)	
F1 iPS D3	++	+++	+	+++	+++	23/24 (96%)	+
F1 iPS F7	+	++	+	++	+	0	
F1 iPS D11	++	++	+++	+++	+++	3/21 (14%)	
F1 iPS C1	+++	++	+	+++	++	15/24 (63%)	+ germ line
F1 iPS D10	+	++	++	+++	+++	0	
F1 iPS E8	+	++	+++	++	+	0	
ICR ES	+	+	-	++	+	1/24 (4%)	
ICR iPS B7	++	+++	+++	+++	+	10/24 (42%)	
ICR iPS F8	++	+	++	+++	+++	17/24 (71%)	
ICR iPS A1	++	++	+++	++	+	14/24 (58%)	
ICR iPS G11	+++	++	+	+	++	19/24 (79%)	
ICR iPS H6	+++	++	+	++	+++	23/24 (96%)	+
ICR iPS H10	+++	+	++	+++	+	20/24 (83%)	
BI6 ES	++	++	-	++	++	9/24 (38%)	
BI6 iPS A7	+	+++	++	+	++	1/16 (6%)	
BI6 iPS B3	++	++	+++	++	++	0	
BI6 iPS A2	++	++	++	+++	++	6/24 (25%)	
BI6 iPS A6	++	++	+	+++	+++	23/24 (96%)	
BI6 iPS A4	+++	++	++	++	++	20/24 (83%)	-
BI6 iPS B5	++	++	+	++	++	11/24 (46%)	

Table 4. Characteristics of iPS cell lines generated from three different genetic backgrounds.

4.2.1 Morphology of iPS cells

To investigate whether these iPS cells are pluripotent, the morphology and alkaline phosphatase expression are the first observe of one line from each genetic background compared to ES cells. The iPS cells formed typical ES-like colonies and exhibited positive staining for alkaline phosphatase (Figure 11). I were able to expand these cells long-term (over 20 passages) and the proliferating cell colonies remained morphologically undifferentiated. These lines could be cryopreserved and recovered with high efficiency using standard techniques. I found that the GFP expression differed among the different iPS cell lines and in between the genetic backgrounds. The iPS derived from F1 background showed lower GFP expressed compared to ICR and Bl6 background, respectively. In some lines, a subset of the cells did not express GFP, indicating silencing of the pluripotency cassette may occur. The differences in the GFP expression might be due to differences in the copy number, number of integration sites or in silencing of the promoter in each clone.



Figure 11. Morphology (left column) and alkaline phophatase staining (right column) of iPS cells generated from three different genetic backgrounds.

4.2.2 Immunofluorescence staining of ES cells marker

I also analyzed the iPS lines for endogenously expressed pluripotency markers, such as, *Oct-*4, Nanog and SSEA-1. The iPS lines showed positive nuclear staining for *Oct-*4, Nanog and the positive plasma membrane marker, SSEA1, similar to that observed in ES cells (Figure 12).



Figure 12. Immunofluorescense analysis of ES cell markers; Oct-4, Nanog and SSEA-1.

4.2.3 RT-PCR analysis

To further evaluate the expression of pluripotency markers, I performed RT-PCR analysis to identify if the exogenous expression of pluripotency genes (OSKM) could induce endogenous gene expression (Figure 13). I used primers for the endogenous sequences. I also analyzed the expression of additional pluripotency genes, such as Nanog, Rex1, Dax1, FoxD3, Fbxo15 and Eras. All the 18 examined iPS clones were found to express these endogenous pluripotency markers at similar levels to ES cells. Therefore, the derived iPS lines displayed typical characteristics of a pluripotent stem cell.



Figure 13. RT-PCR analysis of exogenous and endogenous pluripotency genes derived from three genetic backgrounds.

4.3 DIFFERENTIATION OF IPS CELLS

4.3.1 In vitro cardiac differentiation

Next, I tested the *in vitro* differentiation potential of these cell lines. The classical method to induce ES cell differentiation is to allow ES cells to grow in suspension after LIF withdrawal from the culture medium and form aggregates known as EB. I determined that all of 6 lines from each background formed EB. However, I observed some differences in the morphology of the EBs (see scores in Table 4, Figure 14). I did not find a significant relationship between the ES-like characteristics (ES-morphology or intensity of AP staining) and the capacity to form EB when comparing the iPS lines. In addition, the activity of the reprogramming cassette (GFP expression) did not appear to influence the morphology of the differentiated EBs *in vitro*.



Figure 14. Embryoid body formation of ES and iPS cells by hanging drop method. Scale bar = $500 \ \mu m$.

Thereafter, I differentiated these lines towards the cardiac lineage and scored their differentiation potential. For the cardiac differentiation, I first differentiated these cells into EBs using the hanging drop method. Two days later, I transferred the EBs in suspension culture. On day 4 of differentiation, I transferred the EBs onto gelatin-coated cover slips (one EB/cover slip) and grew them for a further 10-17 days. From day 7 onwards, I observed spontaneously beating areas in the culture. During days 7-14, I identified and counted the number of beating EBs (Table 4 contains the beating rates of each line at day14). I found large differences existed in the cardiac differentiation potential of the different iPS clones. The iPS lines derived from the ICR background performed the best in this assay. The beating rate in 4 out of 6 examined clones was over 70% and the lowest was 42%. The iPS lines derived from the C57BL/6 genetic background had the lowest differentiation rate, where this value was below 40% in 3 of the 6 lines, and only 2 lines performed over 70%.

In this study, I obtained higher percentage of beating cells from the iPS cells than from the parental ES cells (Figure 15). I found a negative correlation existed between the level of GFP expression and the cardiac differentiation capacity of the cells within the genetic backgrounds. For example, in the F1 hybrid background, the iPS line containing the highest level of GFP expression (F1-D11) had the lowest beating rate (14%). In addition, two iPS lines derived from the ICR background, which had the highest GFP expression, also had the lowest beating rate (ICR-B7-42%, ICR-A1-58%). This observation, however, did not apply to iPS cells derived from the C57BL/6 background. These differences in the differentiation capacity might be an effect of the different genetic backgrounds.



Efficiency of cardiac differentiation

Figure 15. Cardiac differentiation efficiency of EBs after 21days of differentiation.

I also analyzed the differentiated EBs for cardiac differentiation markers, desmin and cardiac TroponinT. The cells within the beating areas stained positive for these two cardiac markers. Figure16 represents typical expression observed from each genetic background.



Figure 16. Immunofluorescense analysis of cardiac markers, left column – cardiac TroponinT (red color), right column – desmin (red color).

4.3.2 In vitro neuronal differentiation

To investigate the capability of mouse ES and iPS cells in order to differentiate into neuronal lineage, these ES and iPS cells were induced through EB formation and supplementation of RA (Rungarunlert *et al.* 2011). I found that the EBs at day8 from both ES and iPS cells show the spherical structure with various sizes. Two days after plating the cells onto culture dishes (day10 of differentiation), the cells exhibited a neuron-like appearance with neurite processes organized in network.

After performing the neuronal differentiation procedure, ES and iPS cells subsequently furthered analyzed the differentiated EBs for neuronal markers, nestin and Tuj-1 (Figure 17).

Within differentiation culture period, ES and iPS cells were able to differentiate into cells expressing nestin, a specific antibody against the intermediate filament protein of NPCs. Furthermore, ES and iPS cells were also showed a few amount of post-mitotic neuronal marker Tuj-1. Interestingly, neuronal lineage-derived iPS cell show with approximately 2-3 times higher in number when compared to ES cells. These results demonstrated that mouse ES and iPS cells have ability to generate NPCs and differentiate further into neurons through EB formation in culture.



Figure 17. Immunofluorescense analysis of neuronal markers, left column – nestin (red colour), right column – Tuj-1 (red colour).

4.3.3 In vivo differentiation

One defining feature of authentic pluripotent stem cells is their capacity to incorporate into developing embryos and transfer through the germ line. In order to evaluate the chimera formation potential of our cell lines, I picked the iPS lines (based on their ability to differentiate) from each genetic background and injected individual cells into host blastocysts.

The iPS cells from F1 hybrid and C57BL/6 backgrounds were injected into ICR blastocysts, whereas, iPS cells derived from the ICR background were injected into C57BL/6 blastocysts. I obtained chimeric mice from the iPS lines derived from F1 hybrid and ICR mice (Figure 18). The Bl6-A4 line derived from C57BL/6 mice did not form chimeras. The chimeras from the F1 hybrid and ICR backgrounds were then mated to identify whether the cells could contribute to the germ-line. Two females mated with the chimeras derived from the F1 hybrid background produced offspring with black color, indicating germ-line transmission (Table 4).

Cell line	8-cell stage	Host	ET*	Live offspring	Live Chi. (%)	GLT**
	injection	embryo		(ET%)		
iPS: F1-C1	179	CD1	9	6 (3%)	2 (33%)	1 (50%)
iPS: ICR-H6	184	B6D2	9	9 (10%)	1 (13%)	0
iPS:Bl6-A4	157	CD1	8	17 (6%)	0	0

Table 4. Summary of embryo transfer and chimera production for in vivo differentiation

*ET, Embryo Transfer; GLT, Germline Transmission

The *in vivo* differentiation assay revealed that the F1 hybrid iPS cells had the best differentiation potential, even though the ICR lines performed the best *in vitro*. The cell lines with the least *in vitro* and *in vivo* differentiation potential were derived from the C57BL/6 background.



Figure 18. In vivo differentiation of iPS cells

CHAPTER 5. NEW SCIENTIFIC RESULTS

- 1. I have generated for the first time of mouse iPS cells by non-viral, *Sleeping Beauty* transposon-mediated gene delivery, with four transcription factor (OSKM).
- 2. For the first time, the capabilities of SB transposon-derived mouse iPS cells to be fully reprogrammed have been proven by both *in vitro* and *in vivo*.
- For the first time, a novel comparative *in vitro* study has been performed with iPS cells generated from mouse fibroblasts from three different genetic backgrounds: ICR (outbred), C57BL/6 (inbred) and F1 hybrid (C57BL/6 x DBA/2J).

CHAPTER 6. DISCUSSION AND SUGGESTION

Since the first successfully generated iPS from fibroblasts was reprogrammed by retroviral delivery by four transcription factors (OSKM), a substantial number of alternative approaches have been developed to induce pluripotency in many kind of somatic cells. To properly assess the improvement that each of the methods provides and to give a more precise picture of their real contribution to reprogramming, it will be crucial to test them using commonly accepted standards. In addition to the use of oncogenes in reprogramming cocktails and the issue of viral integration, reprogramming itself may have an effect on a cell's genome, especially given that the process takes many weeks and is rather inefficient. Although reprogramming by using retroviral delivery is efficient and widely used, iPS cells-derived from retroviral vectors have insertional mutations and may cause the tumors.

In this study, I have shown that the *Sleeping Beauty* transposon system, containing the polycistronic reprogramming cassette is able to reprogram MEFs to the pluripotent state in three different genetic backgrounds, including an inbred (C57BL/6), an outbred (ICR) and an F1 hybrid (C57BL/6 x DBA/2J) strain. To achieve this, I utilized the SB-transposon system to deliver the reprogramming cassettes, which were linked by self-cleaving peptide. This peptide has approximately 20-amino acid long 2A peptides from foot-and-mouth disease virus (F2A) and *Thosea asigna* virus (T2A). They work as self-cleaving signals and enable expression of several gene products from a single transcript (Szymczak *et al.* 2004), which facilitated multigene delivery to target cells. I also used a polycistronic expression cassette where the four reprogramming factors were separated by 2A peptides in order to generate the iPS cells and minimize the number of integration sites (Carey *et al.* 2009).

The *Sleeping Beauty* transposon system has similar advantages to other transposon-based systems such as *piggyBac* (Kaji *et al.* 2009; Woltjen *et al.* 2009). This gene delivery method is simple compared to viral systems. The SB transposon system has a very large cargo capacity. Our reprogramming construct has size around 11 kb. Unlike most other DNA transposons, *piggyBac* has a capacity up to 10 kb (Ding *et al.* 2005). I were able to reprogram the cells by simple transfection, avoiding the preparation of the viral stocks in a biohazard facility. However, it is also have a disadvantage by this transient expression method which has a very low reprogramming efficiency (Okita *et al.* 2008; Stadtfeld *et al.* 2008c). By using the

hyperactive form of the SB transposase, the frequency of the genomic integration was relatively high. It may also be possible to remove the integrated transgene following insertion, by using a mutant version of the transposase, which is able to remove the transgene from the genome, but not able to re-integrate (Ivics unpublished). Therefore, it may be possible in the future to generate therapeutically safe, reprogramming factor-free iPS cells. These experiments are currently in progress in our laboratory.

The genetic backgrounds of mice have crucial differences which implicate their use for studying different diseases (Erickson 1996). Success in the generation of mouse ES cells highly depends on the mouse strain used. The most commonly used strain for ES cell generation is the 129/SV strain (Stevens 1973; Threadgill *et al.* 1997; Auerbach *et al.* 2000). The generation of ES cell lines from other inbred C57BL/6 or outbred strains (e.g. ICR) appears to be more difficult to propagate *in vitro* (Suzuki *et al.* 1999; Cheng *et al.* 2004; Tanimoto *et al.* 2008), including ES cells derived from inbred C57BL/6 strains are less efficiency for chimera formation and less frequently contribute to the germline transmission than ES cell lines from the 129 strains (Brook and Gardner 1997; Auerbach *et al.* 2000). However, C57BL6 strains mouse breed well, highly characterized and preferably study in immunological and behavioral research (Waterston *et al.* 2002; Keskintepe *et al.* 2007). Resulting in C57BL/6 strain is become to use in the research study. This strain is the most commonly used background of genetically modified mouse strains and is currently the only inbred strain whose genome has been fully sequenced (Waterston *et al.* 2002).

Several studies have been reported strain-dependent differences mostly in inbred mouse strains for cardiovascular function (Blizard and Welty 1971; Bendall *et al.* 2002; Hoit *et al.* 2002; Stull *et al.* 2006). This was particularly noticeable from lines derived from the outbred strain, where it is known that the generation of pluripotent stem cells is more difficult than in hybrid or inbred strains. The difficulties of outbred strain may be there is some genetic variation and each individual is genetically unique (Festing 2009). Interestingly in this study, the majority of the examined iPS lines from each background had a better differentiation potential compared to the parental ES cells. In addition, the iPS line derived from ICR outbred also performed the best *in vitro* cardiac differentiation. However, the iPS cells derived from ICR background could not develop *in vivo* differentiaton. Many types of pluripotent stem cells are needed for detailed analysis of genetic diseases. Outbred lines are important for modeling human diseases, such as diabetes or neuronal diseases (Sullivan *et al.* 2007). Therefore, the

generation of pluripotent stem cells from outbred strains might lead to improvement of these disease models. Here, I showed that iPS technology is suitable for reprogramming cells from different genetic backgrounds, even from backgrounds (e.g. ICR), where it is difficult to generate pluripotent ES cell lines. In the iPS-ICR background, I also observed a higher efficiency of differentiation than the parental ES cell line.

Additionally, these methods could be readily applied to other cell types such as keratinocytes, which has higher reprogramming efficiency than fibroblasts to generate iPS cells (Aasen *et al.* 2008; Stadtfeld *et al.* 2010a). To examine the development potential of the iPS cells derived from 3 different genetic backgrounds, all iPS cell lines showed that the endogenous pluripotency genes were switched on following reprogramming which was detected by immunostaining (*Oct-4*, Nanog, SSEA-1) and RT-PCR (endogenous and endogenous-exogenous). From all three backgrounds, the cells were able to differentiate *in vitro* into cardiac and neuronal lineages by using embryoid bodies or monolayer chemically defined stepwise differentiation. Recent studies showed that cell extracted from different somatic tissues can be re-programmed by different efficiency, e.g. liver cells require lower level of the reprogramming factors to achieve pluripotency (Aoi *et al.* 2008). Furthermore, iPS cells derived from different sources have different differentiation potential, e.g. differentiated into neurospheres, generated from adult tail-tip fibroblasts derived iPS cells retain more teratoma-forming cells than iPS cells from embryonic fibroblasts (Miura *et al.* 2009).

These results showed that iPS cells to aggregate and differentiate in hanging drop and in suspension culture. Embryoid bodies recapitulate many aspects of cell differentiation during early mammalian embryogenesis and the cells can be terminally differentiated into various cell types belonging to the three germ layers (Keller 1995). The lack of structural organization and positional information within EBs during differentiation of the cells result in heterogeneity both within and between EBs. Interestingly, high yield of cardiac and neuronal population can be generated from iPS cells compared with ES cells. The differentiated cells also showed the positive expression of differentiation marker for cardiac (cardiac Troponin T and desmin) and neuron (nestin and Tuj-1). Most importantly, two lines from F1 and ICR backgrounds, the cells formed chimeras after blastocyst injection and one line from the F1 background transmitted to the germ line, this confirming this line to be an authentic pluripotent stem cell line. A potential limitation of the studies is that ES cells were compared with iPS cells of different genetic backgrounds which are know to affect functional

(Takahashi and Yamanaka 2006; Okita *et al.* 2007) and gene expression pattern (Brambrink *et al.* 2006; Soldner *et al.* 2009) of the cells

Some researchers advised that perhaps the combination of single-cell analysis and cell tracking with high-resolution time-lapse imaging might be the only way to truly understand the reprogramming events (Chan *et al.* 2009; Smith *et al.* 2010). In addition, the reprogramming approach still needs to be improving for a robust and efficient. For example, small molecules were used to improve the efficiency although they must be treated with caution as some of them can be tumorigenic (review in (Feng *et al.* 2009; Stadtfeld *et al.* 2010b)). The delivery method, reprogramming factors and cell types of tissues is also require, regardless of the presence of genomic modifications, however, many approaches have been reported with inefficiently reprogramming rate.

iPS technology opened up new possibilities in regenerative medicine. By reprogramming somatic cells to pluripotent stage and then differentiate them to specific lineages, the iPS technology allows patient specific stem cell therapy, without immunological side effects. Despite many optimistic predictions, the generation of safe and efficient cells for therapy is more difficult than expected. For generation therapeutically safe iPS cells one of the most crucial issue is the choice of gene-delivery system. To avoid the danger of malignant transformation, non-integrating (plasmid transfection, chemical inducers) or removable (transposone, excisable lentiviral) techniques are applicable, instead of the most commonly used retroviral system. Nevertheless, another very important issue for the generation of good quality iPS cells is the source of the cells to be reprogrammed.

In summary, the study presented here shows for the first time that the *Sleeping Beauty* transposon system is suitable for reprogramming differentiated cells into pluripotent cells. It remains to be tested, however, if iPS cell clones can be removed the transgene after complete reprogramming, even they could give rise to germline chimeras. This system provides a new non-viral methodology for the generation of therapeutically safe pluripotent stem cells. The iPS cells generated in our system were able to differentiate both *in vitro* and *in vivo* even without the excision of the pluripotency cassette. Our results also show, that the iPS technology provides a new tool for the generation of pluripotent stem cells from genetic backgrounds where ES cell generation has been difficult.

CHAPTER 7. SUMMARY (EN)

Induced pluripotent stem (iPS) cell technology involves reprogramming somatic cells to a pluripotent state. The original technology used to produce these cells requires viral gene transduction and results in the permanent integration of exogenous genes into the genome. This can lead to the development of abnormalities in the derived iPS cells. Here, I reported that non-viral transfection of Sleeping Beauty (SB) transposon containing the coding sequences c-Myc, Klf-4, Oct-4 (Pou5f1) and Sox-2 linked with 2A peptides, can reprogram mouse fibroblasts. I have established reprogrammed mouse cell lines from three different genetic backgrounds: (1) ICR (outbred), (2) C57BL/6 (inbred) and (3) F1 hybrid (C57BL/6 x DBA/2J), with parallel robust expression of all exogenous (c-Myc, Klf-4, Oct-4 and Sox-2) and endogenous (e.g. Nanog) pluripotency genes. The iPS cell lines exhibited typical characteristics typical for undifferentiated embryonic stem (ES) cell lines: ES cell-like morphology, alkaline phosphatase positivity and gene expression pattern (shown by quantitative real-time PCR, and immunofluorescence of ES cell markers - e.g. Oct-4, SSEA1, Nanog). Furthermore, cells were able to form embryoid bodies (EBs), to beat rhythmically, and express cardiac markers (assayed by immunofluorescence, e.g. cardiac Troponin T, desmin). The in vitro differentiation potential was found to be the highest in the ICR-derived iPS lines (ICR-iPS). Interestingly, the ICR-iPS lines had even higher differentiation potential than the ICR-ES cell lines: the rate of EBs forming rhythmically beating cardiomyocytes was 4% in ICR-ES and 79% in ICR-iPS cells, respectively. In vivo, the ICR and F1 hybrid iPS cells formed chimeras and one of the iPS cells from the F1 hybrid background transmitted to the germline. Our results suggest that iPS technology may be useful for generating pluripotent stem cells from genetic backgrounds of which good quality ES cell generation is difficult. These studies provide new insights into viral-free iPS technology and may contribute towards defining future cell-based therapies, drug-screening methods and production of transgenic animals using genetically modified iPS cells.

CHAPTER 7. SUMMARY (HU)

Az indukált pluripotens őssejt (iPS) technológia. a szomatikus sejtek pluripotens sejtekké történő átprogramozását jelenti. Az eredeti technológia általában virális génekkel történő transzdukció útján állítja elő ezen sejteket, mely az idegen gének tartós. Beépülését eredményezi a genomba, ezért. Az így előállított iPS sejteknél a későbbiekben fejlődési rendellenesség jelentkezhet. Jelen tanulmányomban bemutatom, hogy a nem virális eredetű Sleeping Beauty (SB) transzpozon transzfekciója, amely tartalmazza a c-myc, KLF-4, Oct3 / 4 (Pou5f1) és a Sox-2 kapcsolt 2A peptideket. Kódoló szekvenciákat, lehetővé teszi az egér fibroblasztsejtek újraprogramozását. Három különböző genetikai háttérrel rendelkező, átprogramozott egér sejtvonalat hoztunk létre: (1) ICR (outbred), (2) C57BL/6 (inbred) és (3) F1 hibrid (C57BL/6 x DBA/2J), a melyek párhuzamosan expresszálják az összes exogén (cmyc, KLF-4, Oct3 / 4 és a Sox-2) és endogén (pl. Nanog) pluripotencia géneket. Az iPS sejtvonalak jellemző tulajdonságaikban megegyeznek a differenciálatlan embrionális őssejtvonalakkal (ES): az ES-sejt szerű morfológia, alkalikus foszfatáz pozitivitás és génexpressziós mintázat (kvantitatív real-time PCR, és immunfluoreszcens ES sejt markerek pl Oct-4, SSEA1, Nanog). Továbbá, a sejtek képesek voltak embrioid testeket (EBS) létrehozni, ritmikusan verni, és szív specifikus markereket expresszálni (például szív eredetű troponin T, dezmin). Az in vitro differenciálódási potenciált a legmagasabbnak az ICReredetű iPS vonalak (ICR-IPS) esetében találtam. Érdekes módon az ICR-IPS vonalak nagyobb differenciációs potenciált mutattak, mint az ICR-ES sejtvonalak: az EBs-t alkotó ritmikusan összehúzódó szívizomsejtek aránya 4% volt az ICR-ES és 79%-ICR-IPS sejtek esetében. Eredményeim arra utalnak, hogy az IPS technológia hasznos lehet pluripotens őssejtek létrehozására, azokban az esetekben, ahol a jó minőségű ES sejtek előállítása akadályba ütközik. A tanulmány betekintést nyújt a vírus mentes IPS technológiába és a jövőben hozzájárulhat meghatározó sejt-alapú terápiák kidolgozásához, gyógyszer-szűrési módszerekhez és transzgenikus állatok előállításához genetikailag módosított iPS sejtek felhasználásával.

APPENDIX

Mediums and Solutions

PBS

KCl	20 mg
KH ₂ PO ₄	20 mg
MgCl ₂ (6XH ₂ O)	21,24 mg
NaCl	800 mg
Na ₂ HPO ₄	115 mg
CaCl ₂ (2xH ₂ O)	13,25 mg
MQ water	100 ml
Autoclave and storage at room temperature for up to 3 month.	

FM medium

DMEM	
FBS	20 ml
Penicillin/Streptomycin	1 ml
Eilten sterile en distance et 400 feman te 2 merele	

Filter sterile and storage at 4°C for up to 2 week.

10% DMSO (Freezing medium)

DMEM	7 ml
FBS	2 ml
DMSO	1 ml
Filter sterile and storage at 4°C for up to 1 week.	

ES medium

DMEM	78 ml
FBS	20 ml
LIF (1,000 U/ µl)	10 µl
NEAA (100X)	1 ml
β-ME (50mM),	200 µl
Penicillin/Streptomycin	1 ml
Filter sterile and storage at 4°C for up to 1 week.	

EM medium

DMEM	78 ml
FBS	20 ml
NEAA (100X)	1 ml
β-ME (50mM),	200 µl
Penicillin/Streptomycin	1 ml
Filter sterile and storage at 4°C for up to 1 week.	

Neuronal differentiation (D0-8)

DMEM/F12	98 ml
Glucose	0.3 g
AlbuMaxI	0.3 g
N ₂ supplement	1 ml
bFGF (stock 100 µg/ml)	10 µl
Penicillin/Streptomycin	1 ml
Filter sterile and storage at 4°C for up to 1 week.	

Neuronal differentiation (D8-14)

DMEM/F12	
Neurobasal medium	
GlutaMax	1 ml
N ₂ supplement	0.5 ml
B27	1 ml
Penicillin/Streptomycin	1 ml
Filter sterile and storage at 4°C for up to 1 week.	

REFERENCES

- Aasen, T., Raya, A., Barrero, M. J., Garreta, E., Consiglio, A., Gonzalez, F., Vassena, R., Bilic, J., Pekarik, V., Tiscornia, G., Edel, M., Boue, S., Izpisua Belmonte, J. C., 2008. Efficient and rapid generation of induced pluripotent stem cells from human keratinocytes. Nat Biotechnol. 26, 1276-84.
- Aoi, T., Yae, K., Nakagawa, M., Ichisaka, T., Okita, K., Takahashi, K., Chiba, T., Yamanaka, S., 2008. Generation of pluripotent stem cells from adult mouse liver and stomach cells. Science. 321, 699-702.
- Auerbach, W., Dunmore, J. H., Fairchild-Huntress, V., Fang, Q., Auerbach, A. B., Huszar, D., Joyner, A. L., 2000. Establishment and chimera analysis of 129/SvEv- and C57BL/6derived mouse embryonic stem cell lines. Biotechniques. 29, 1024-8, 1030, 1032.
- Avilion, A. A., Nicolis, S. K., Pevny, L. H., Perez, L., Vivian, N., Lovell-Badge, R., 2003. Multipotent cell lineages in early mouse development depend on SOX2 function. Genes Dev. 17, 126-40.
- Bendall, J. K., Heymes, C., Wright, T. J., Wheatcroft, S., Grieve, D. J., Shah, A. M., Cave, A. C., 2002. Strain-dependent variation in vascular responses to nitric oxide in the isolated murine heart. J Mol Cell Cardiol. 34, 1325-33.
- Bibel, M., Richter, J., Lacroix, E., Barde, Y. A., 2007. Generation of a defined and uniform population of CNS progenitors and neurons from mouse embryonic stem cells. Nat Protoc. 2, 1034-43.
- Blelloch, R., Venere, M., Yen, J., Ramalho-Santos, M., 2007. Generation of induced pluripotent stem cells in the absence of drug selection. Cell Stem Cell. 1, 245-7.
- Blizard, D. A., Welty, R., 1971. Cardiac activity in the mouse: strain differences. J Comp Physiol Psychol. 77, 337-44.
- Boland, M. J., Hazen, J. L., Nazor, K. L., Rodriguez, A. R., Gifford, W., Martin, G., Kupriyanov, S., Baldwin, K. K., 2009. Adult mice generated from induced pluripotent

stem cells. Nature. 461, 91-4.

- Boyer, L. A., Lee, T. I., Cole, M. F., Johnstone, S. E., Levine, S. S., Zucker, J. P., Guenther, M. G., Kumar, R. M., Murray, H. L., Jenner, R. G., Gifford, D. K., Melton, D. A., Jaenisch, R., Young, R. A., 2005. Core transcriptional regulatory circuitry in human embryonic stem cells. Cell. 122, 947-56.
- Brambrink, T., Foreman, R., Welstead, G. G., Lengner, C. J., Wernig, M., Suh, H., Jaenisch, R., 2008. Sequential expression of pluripotency markers during direct reprogramming of mouse somatic cells. Cell Stem Cell. 2, 151-9.
- Brambrink, T., Hochedlinger, K., Bell, G., Jaenisch, R., 2006. ES cells derived from cloned and fertilized blastocysts are transcriptionally and functionally indistinguishable. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 103, 933-8.
- Brook, F. A., Gardner, R. L., 1997. The origin and efficient derivation of embryonic stem cells in the mouse. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 94, 5709-12.
- Bushman, F. D., 2003. Targeting survival: integration site selection by retroviruses and LTR-retrotransposons. Cell. 115, 135-8.
- Cadinanos, J., Bradley, A., 2007. Generation of an inducible and optimized piggyBac transposon system. Nucleic Acids Res. 35, e87.
- Carey, B. W., Markoulaki, S., Hanna, J., Saha, K., Gao, Q., Mitalipova, M., Jaenisch, R., 2009. Reprogramming of murine and human somatic cells using a single polycistronic vector. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 106, 157-62.
- Carvajal-Vergara, X., Sevilla, A., D'Souza, S. L., Ang, Y. S., Schaniel, C., Lee, D. F., Yang, L., Kaplan, A. D., Adler, E. D., Rozov, R., Ge, Y., Cohen, N., Edelmann, L. J., Chang, B., Waghray, A., Su, J., Pardo, S., Lichtenbelt, K. D., Tartaglia, M., Gelb, B. D., Lemischka, I. R., 2010. Patient-specific induced pluripotent stem-cell-derived models of LEOPARD syndrome. Nature. 465, 808-12.
- Cary, L. C., Goebel, M., Corsaro, B. G., Wang, H. G., Rosen, E., Fraser, M. J., 1989.

Transposon mutagenesis of baculoviruses: analysis of Trichoplusia ni transposon IFP2 insertions within the FP-locus of nuclear polyhedrosis viruses. Virology. 172, 156-69.

- Chambers, S. M., Fasano, C. A., Papapetrou, E. P., Tomishima, M., Sadelain, M., Studer, L., 2009. Highly efficient neural conversion of human ES and iPS cells by dual inhibition of SMAD signaling. Nat Biotechnol. 27, 275-80.
- Chan, E. M., Ratanasirintrawoot, S., Park, I. H., Manos, P. D., Loh, Y. H., Huo, H., Miller, J. D., Hartung, O., Rho, J., Ince, T. A., Daley, G. Q., Schlaeger, T. M., 2009. Live cell imaging distinguishes bona fide human iPS cells from partially reprogrammed cells. Nat Biotechnol. 27, 1033-7.
- Chang, M. Y., Kim, D., Kim, C. H., Kang, H. C., Yang, E., Moon, J. I., Ko, S., Park, J., Park, K. S., Lee, K. A., Hwang, D. Y., Chung, Y., Lanza, R., Kim, K. S., 2010. Direct reprogramming of rat neural precursor cells and fibroblasts into pluripotent stem cells. PLoS One. 5, e9838.
- Chen, Z. Y., He, C. Y., Ehrhardt, A., Kay, M. A., 2003. Minicircle DNA vectors devoid of bacterial DNA result in persistent and high-level transgene expression in vivo. Mol Ther. 8, 495-500.
- Chen, Z. Y., He, C. Y., Kay, M. A., 2005. Improved production and purification of minicircle DNA vector free of plasmid bacterial sequences and capable of persistent transgene expression in vivo. Hum Gene Ther. 16, 126-31.
- Cheng, J., Dutra, A., Takesono, A., Garrett-Beal, L., Schwartzberg, P. L., 2004. Improved generation of C57BL/6J mouse embryonic stem cells in a defined serum-free media. Genesis. 39, 100-4.
- Chin, M. H., Mason, M. J., Xie, W., Volinia, S., Singer, M., Peterson, C., Ambartsumyan, G., Aimiuwu, O., Richter, L., Zhang, J., Khvorostov, I., Ott, V., Grunstein, M., Lavon, N., Benvenisty, N., Croce, C. M., Clark, A. T., Baxter, T., Pyle, A. D., Teitell, M. A., Pelegrini, M., Plath, K., Lowry, W. E., 2009. Induced pluripotent stem cells and embryonic stem cells are distinguished by gene expression signatures. Cell Stem Cell. 5, 111-23.

- Cox, J. L., Rizzino, A., 2010. Induced pluripotent stem cells: what lies beyond the paradigm shift. Exp Biol Med (Maywood). 235, 148-58.
- Deng, J., Shoemaker, R., Xie, B., Gore, A., LeProust, E. M., Antosiewicz-Bourget, J., Egli, D., Maherali, N., Park, I. H., Yu, J., Daley, G. Q., Eggan, K., Hochedlinger, K., Thomson, J., Wang, W., Gao, Y., Zhang, K., 2009. Targeted bisulfite sequencing reveals changes in DNA methylation associated with nuclear reprogramming. Nat Biotechnol. 27, 353-60.
- Deng, Y., Liu, Q., Luo, C., Chen, S., Li, X., Wang, C., Liu, Z., Lei, X., Zhang, H., Sun, H., Lu, F., Jiang, J., Shi, D., 2012. Generation of Induced Pluripotent Stem cells From Buffalo (Bubalus bubalis) Fetal Fibroblasts with Buffalo Defined Factors. Stem Cells Dev.
- Dimos, J. T., Rodolfa, K. T., Niakan, K. K., Weisenthal, L. M., Mitsumoto, H., Chung, W., Croft, G. F., Saphier, G., Leibel, R., Goland, R., Wichterle, H., Henderson, C. E., Eggan, K., 2008. Induced pluripotent stem cells generated from patients with ALS can be differentiated into motor neurons. Science. 321, 1218-21.
- Ding, S., Wu, X., Li, G., Han, M., Zhuang, Y., Xu, T., 2005. Efficient transposition of the piggyBac (PB) transposon in mammalian cells and mice. Cell. 122, 473-83.
- Ebert, A. D., Yu, J., Rose, F. F., Jr., Mattis, V. B., Lorson, C. L., Thomson, J. A., Svendsen, C. N., 2009. Induced pluripotent stem cells from a spinal muscular atrophy patient. Nature. 457, 277-80.
- Elick, T. A., Bauser, C. A., Fraser, M. J., 1996. Excision of the piggyBac transposable element in vitro is a precise event that is enhanced by the expression of its encoded transposase. Genetica. 98, 33-41.
- Eminli, S., Foudi, A., Stadtfeld, M., Maherali, N., Ahfeldt, T., Mostoslavsky, G., Hock, H., Hochedlinger, K., 2009. Differentiation stage determines potential of hematopoietic cells for reprogramming into induced pluripotent stem cells. Nat Genet. 41, 968-76.
- Eminli, S., Utikal, J., Arnold, K., Jaenisch, R., Hochedlinger, K., 2008. Reprogramming of

neural progenitor cells into induced pluripotent stem cells in the absence of exogenous *Sox-2* expression. Stem Cells. 26, 2467-74.

- Erickson, R. P., 1996. Mouse models of human genetic disease: which mouse is more like a man? Bioessays. 18, 993-8.
- Esteban, M. A., Xu, J., Yang, J., Peng, M., Qin, D., Li, W., Jiang, Z., Chen, J., Deng, K., Zhong, M., Cai, J., Lai, L., Pei, D., 2009. Generation of induced pluripotent stem cell lines from Tibetan miniature pig. J Biol Chem. 284, 17634-40.
- Evans, M. J., Kaufman, M. H., 1981. Establishment in culture of pluripotential cells from mouse embryos. Nature. 292, 154-6.
- Ezashi, T., Telugu, B. P., Alexenko, A. P., Sachdev, S., Sinha, S., Roberts, R. M., 2009. Derivation of induced pluripotent stem cells from pig somatic cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 106, 10993-8.
- Feng, B., Jiang, J., Kraus, P., Ng, J. H., Heng, J. C., Chan, Y. S., Yaw, L. P., Zhang, W., Loh, Y. H., Han, J., Vega, V. B., Cacheux-Rataboul, V., Lim, B., Lufkin, T., Ng, H. H., 2009a. Reprogramming of fibroblasts into induced pluripotent stem cells with orphan nuclear receptor Esrrb. Nat Cell Biol. 11, 197-203.
- Feng, B., Ng, J. H., Heng, J. C., Ng, H. H., 2009b. Molecules that promote or enhance reprogramming of somatic cells to induced pluripotent stem cells. Cell Stem Cell. 4, 301-12.
- Festing, M. F., 2009. Improving the design and analysis of animal experiments: a personal odyssey. Altern Lab Anim. 37 Suppl 2, 75-81.
- Fraser, M. J., Ciszczon, T., Elick, T., Bauser, C., 1996. Precise excision of TTAA-specific lepidopteran transposons piggyBac (IFP2) and tagalong (TFP3) from the baculovirus genome in cell lines from two species of Lepidoptera. Insect Mol Biol. 5, 141-51.
- Fusaki, N., Ban, H., Nishiyama, A., Saeki, K., Hasegawa, M., 2009. Efficient induction of transgene-free human pluripotent stem cells using a vector based on Sendai virus, an
RNA virus that does not integrate into the host genome. Proc Jpn Acad Ser B Phys Biol Sci. 85, 348-62.

- Ghosh, Z., Wilson, K. D., Wu, Y., Hu, S., Quertermous, T., Wu, J. C., 2010. Persistent donor cell gene expression among human induced pluripotent stem cells contributes to differences with human embryonic stem cells. PLoS One. 5, e8975.
- Giorgetti, A., Montserrat, N., Aasen, T., Gonzalez, F., Rodriguez-Piza, I., Vassena, R., Raya, A., Boue, S., Barrero, M. J., Corbella, B. A., Torrabadella, M., Veiga, A., Belmonte, J. C. I., 2009. Generation of Induced Pluripotent Stem Cells from Human Cord Blood Using OCT4 and SOX2. Cell Stem Cell. 5, 353-357.
- Gonzalez, F., Barragan Monasterio, M., Tiscornia, G., Montserrat Pulido, N., Vassena, R., Batlle Morera, L., Rodriguez Piza, I., Izpisua Belmonte, J. C., 2009. Generation of mouse-induced pluripotent stem cells by transient expression of a single nonviral polycistronic vector. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 106, 8918-22.
- Gonzalez, F., Boue, S., Izpisua Belmonte, J. C., 2011. Methods for making induced pluripotent stem cells: reprogramming a la carte. Nat Rev Genet. 12, 231-42.
- Guenther, M. G., Frampton, G. M., Soldner, F., Hockemeyer, D., Mitalipova, M., Jaenisch, R., Young, R. A., 2010. Chromatin structure and gene expression programs of human embryonic and induced pluripotent stem cells. Cell Stem Cell. 7, 249-57.
- Haase, A., Olmer, R., Schwanke, K., Wunderlich, S., Merkert, S., Hess, C., Zweigerdt, R., Gruh, I., Meyer, J., Wagner, S., Maier, L. S., Han, D. W., Glage, S., Miller, K., Fischer, P., Scholer, H. R., Martin, U., 2009. Generation of induced pluripotent stem cells from human cord blood. Cell Stem Cell. 5, 434-41.
- Hackett, P. B., Ekker, S. C., Largaespada, D. A., McIvor, R. S., 2005. *Sleeping beauty* transposon-mediated gene therapy for prolonged expression. Adv Genet. 54, 189-232.
- Hamanaka, S., Yamaguchi, T., Kobayashi, T., Kato-Itoh, M., Yamazaki, S., Sato, H., Umino,A., Wakiyama, Y., Arai, M., Sanbo, M., Hirabayashi, M., Nakauchi, H., 2011.Generation of germline-competent rat induced pluripotent stem cells. PLoS One. 6,

- Hanna, J., Markoulaki, S., Schorderet, P., Carey, B. W., Beard, C., Wernig, M., Creyghton, M. P., Steine, E. J., Cassady, J. P., Foreman, R., Lengner, C. J., Dausman, J. A., Jaenisch, R., 2008. Direct reprogramming of terminally differentiated mature B lymphocytes to pluripotency. Cell. 133, 250-264.
- Hanna, J., Wernig, M., Markoulaki, S., Sun, C. W., Meissner, A., Cassady, J. P., Beard, C., Brambrink, T., Wu, L. C., Townes, T. M., Jaenisch, R., 2007. Treatment of sickle cell anemia mouse model with iPS cells generated from autologous skin. Science. 318, 1920-3.
- Hockemeyer, D., Soldner, F., Cook, E. G., Gao, Q., Mitalipova, M., Jaenisch, R., 2008. A drug-inducible system for direct reprogramming of human somatic cells to pluripotency. Cell Stem Cell. 3, 346-53.
- Hoit, B. D., Kiatchoosakun, S., Restivo, J., Kirkpatrick, D., Olszens, K., Shao, H., Pao, Y. H., Nadeau, J. H., 2002. Naturally occurring variation in cardiovascular traits among inbred mouse strains. Genomics. 79, 679-85.
- Honda, A., Hirose, M., Hatori, M., Matoba, S., Miyoshi, H., Inoue, K., Ogura, A., 2010. Generation of induced pluripotent stem cells in rabbits: potential experimental models for human regenerative medicine. J Biol Chem. 285, 31362-9.
- Hotta, A., Ellis, J., 2008. Retroviral vector silencing during iPS cell induction: an epigenetic beacon that signals distinct pluripotent states. J Cell Biochem. 105, 940-8.
- Hu, B. Y., Zhang, S. C., 2010. Directed differentiation of neural-stem cells and subtypespecific neurons from hESCs. Methods Mol Biol. 636, 123-37.
- Huangfu, D., Osafune, K., Maehr, R., Guo, W., Eijkelenboom, A., Chen, S., Muhlestein, W., Melton, D. A., 2008. Induction of pluripotent stem cells from primary human fibroblasts with only *Oct-4* and *Sox-2*. Nat Biotechnol. 26, 1269-75.
- Ichida, J. K., Blanchard, J., Lam, K., Son, E. Y., Chung, J. E., Egli, D., Loh, K. M., Carter, A.

C., Di Giorgio, F. P., Koszka, K., Huangfu, D., Akutsu, H., Liu, D. R., Rubin, L. L., Eggan, K., 2009. A small-molecule inhibitor of tgf-Beta signaling replaces *Sox-2* in reprogramming by inducing nanog. Cell Stem Cell. 5, 491-503.

- Inoue, M., Tomizawa, K., Matsushita, M., Lu, Y. F., Yokoyama, T., Yanai, H., Takashima, A., Kumon, H., Matsui, H., 2006. p53 protein transduction therapy: successful targeting and inhibition of the growth of the bladder cancer cells. Eur Urol. 49, 161-8.
- Ivics, Z., Hackett, P. B., Plasterk, R. H., Izsvak, Z., 1997. Molecular reconstruction of *Sleeping Beauty*, a Tc1-like transposon from fish, and its transposition in human cells. Cell. 91, 501-10.
- Ivics, Z., Izsvak, Z., 2006. Transposons for gene therapy! Curr Gene Ther. 6, 593-607.
- Ivics, Z., Katzer, A., Stuwe, E. E., Fiedler, D., Knespel, S., Izsvak, Z., 2007. Targeted *Sleeping Beauty* transposition in human cells. Mol Ther. 15, 1137-44.
- Izsvak, Z., Hackett, P. B., Cooper, L. J., Ivics, Z., 2010. Translating *Sleeping Beauty* transposition into cellular therapies: victories and challenges. Bioessays. 32, 756-67.
- Jia, F., Wilson, K. D., Sun, N., Gupta, D. M., Huang, M., Li, Z., Panetta, N. J., Chen, Z. Y., Robbins, R. C., Kay, M. A., Longaker, M. T., Wu, J. C., 2010. A nonviral minicircle vector for deriving human iPS cells. Nat Methods. 7, 197-9.
- Kaji, K., Norrby, K., Paca, A., Mileikovsky, M., Mohseni, P., Woltjen, K., 2009. Virus-free induction of pluripotency and subsequent excision of reprogramming factors. Nature. 458, 771-5.
- Kang, L., Wang, J., Zhang, Y., Kou, Z., Gao, S., 2009. iPS cells can support full-term development of tetraploid blastocyst-complemented embryos. Cell Stem Cell. 5, 135-8.
- Keller, G. M., 1995. In vitro differentiation of embryonic stem cells. Curr Opin Cell Biol. 7, 862-9.

- Keskintepe, L., Norris, K., Pacholczyk, G., Dederscheck, S. M., Eroglu, A., 2007. Derivation and comparison of C57BL/6 embryonic stem cells to a widely used 129 embryonic stem cell line. Transgenic Res. 16, 751-8.
- Kim, D., Kim, C. H., Moon, J. I., Chung, Y. G., Chang, M. Y., Han, B. S., Ko, S., Yang, E., Cha, K. Y., Lanza, R., Kim, K. S., 2009a. Generation of human induced pluripotent stem cells by direct delivery of reprogramming proteins. Cell Stem Cell. 4, 472-6.
- Kim, J. B., Sebastiano, V., Wu, G., Arauzo-Bravo, M. J., Sasse, P., Gentile, L., Ko, K., Ruau, D., Ehrich, M., van den Boom, D., Meyer, J., Hubner, K., Bernemann, C., Ortmeier, C., Zenke, M., Fleischmann, B. K., Zaehres, H., Scholer, H. R., 2009b. *Oct-4*-induced pluripotency in adult neural stem cells. Cell. 136, 411-9.
- Kim, J. B., Zaehres, H., Wu, G., Gentile, L., Ko, K., Sebastiano, V., Arauzo-Bravo, M. J., Ruau, D., Han, D. W., Zenke, M., Scholer, H. R., 2008. Pluripotent stem cells induced from adult neural stem cells by reprogramming with two factors. Nature. 454, 646-50.
- Kobolak, J., Bodo, S., Rungsiwiwut, R., Meng, Q., Adorjan, M., Virutamasen, P., Techakumphu, M., Dinnyes, A., 2010. Generation of mouse embryonic stem cell lines from zona-free nuclear transfer embryos. Cell Reprogram. 12, 105-13.
- Kunisato, A., Wakatsuki, M., Kodama, Y., Shinba, H., Ishida, I., Nagao, K., 2010. Generation of Induced Pluripotent Stem Cells by Efficient Reprogramming of Adult Bone Marrow Cells. Stem Cells and Development. 19, 229-238.
- Lafevre-Bernt, M., Wu, S., Lin, X., 2008. Recombinant, refolded tetrameric p53 and gonadotropin-releasing hormone-p53 slow proliferation and induce apoptosis in p53-deficient cancer cells. Mol Cancer Ther. 7, 1420-9.
- Li, W., Wei, W., Zhu, S., Zhu, J., Shi, Y., Lin, T., Hao, E., Hayek, A., Deng, H., Ding, S., 2009. Generation of rat and human induced pluripotent stem cells by combining genetic reprogramming and chemical inhibitors. Cell Stem Cell. 4, 16-9.
- Li, W., Zhao, X. Y., Wan, H. F., Zhang, Y., Liu, L., Lv, Z., Wang, X. J., Wang, L., Zhou, Q., 2010. iPS cells generated without c-Myc have active Dlk1-Dio3 region and are

capable of producing full-term mice through tetraploid complementation. Cell Res. 21, 550-3.

- Li, Y., McClintick, J., Zhong, L., Edenberg, H. J., Yoder, M. C., Chan, R. J., 2005. Murine embryonic stem cell differentiation is promoted by SOCS-3 and inhibited by the zinc finger transcription factor *Klf-4*. Blood. 105, 635-7.
- Liao, J., Cui, C., Chen, S., Ren, J., Chen, J., Gao, Y., Li, H., Jia, N., Cheng, L., Xiao, H., Xiao, L., 2009. Generation of induced pluripotent stem cell lines from adult rat cells. Cell Stem Cell. 4, 11-5.
- Liu, G., Aronovich, E. L., Cui, Z., Whitley, C. B., Hackett, P. B., 2004. Excision of *Sleeping Beauty* transposons: parameters and applications to gene therapy. J Gene Med. 6, 574-83.
- Liu, H., Zhu, F., Yong, J., Zhang, P., Hou, P., Li, H., Jiang, W., Cai, J., Liu, M., Cui, K., Qu, X., Xiang, T., Lu, D., Chi, X., Gao, G., Ji, W., Ding, M., Deng, H., 2008. Generation of induced pluripotent stem cells from adult rhesus monkey fibroblasts. Cell Stem Cell. 3, 587-90.
- Liu, L., Luo, G. Z., Yang, W., Zhao, X., Zheng, Q., Lv, Z., Li, W., Wu, H. J., Wang, L., Wang, X. J., Zhou, Q., 2010. Activation of the imprinted Dlk1-Dio3 region correlates with pluripotency levels of mouse stem cells. J Biol Chem. 285, 19483-90.
- Lobo, N., Li, X., Fraser, M. J., Jr., 1999. Transposition of the piggyBac element in embryos of Drosophila melanogaster, Aedes aegypti and Trichoplusia ni. Mol Gen Genet. 261, 803-10.
- Loh, Y. H., Agarwal, S., Park, I. H., Urbach, A., Huo, H. G., Heffner, G. C., Kim, K. T., Miller, J. D., Ng, K. W., Daley, G. Q., 2009. Generation of induced pluripotent stem cells from human blood. Blood. 113, 5476-5479.
- Lowry, W. E., Richter, L., Yachechko, R., Pyle, A. D., Tchieu, J., Sridharan, R., Clark, A. T., Plath, K., 2008. Generation of human induced pluripotent stem cells from dermal fibroblasts. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 105, 2883-8.

- Maehr, R., Chen, S., Snitow, M., Ludwig, T., Yagasaki, L., Goland, R., Leibel, R. L., Melton, D. A., 2009. Generation of pluripotent stem cells from patients with type 1 diabetes. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 106, 15768-73.
- Maherali, N., Ahfeldt, T., Rigamonti, A., Utikal, J., Cowan, C., Hochedlinger, K., 2008. A high-efficiency system for the generation and study of human induced pluripotent stem cells. Cell Stem Cell. 3, 340-5.
- Maherali, N., Hochedlinger, K., 2008a. Guidelines and techniques for the generation of induced pluripotent stem cells. Cell Stem Cell. 3, 595-605.
- Maherali, N., Hochedlinger, K., 2008b. Induced pluripotency of mouse and human somatic cells. Cold Spring Harb Symp Quant Biol. 73, 157-62.
- Maherali, N., Hochedlinger, K., 2009. Tgfbeta signal inhibition cooperates in the induction of iPSCs and replaces *Sox-2* and cMyc. Curr Biol. 19, 1718-23.
- Maherali, N., Sridharan, R., Xie, W., Utikal, J., Eminli, S., Arnold, K., Stadtfeld, M., Yachechko, R., Tchieu, J., Jaenisch, R., Plath, K., Hochedlinger, K., 2007. Directly reprogrammed fibroblasts show global epigenetic remodeling and widespread tissue contribution. Cell Stem Cell. 1, 55-70.
- Marson, A., Foreman, R., Chevalier, B., Bilodeau, S., Kahn, M., Young, R. A., Jaenisch, R., 2008. Wnt signaling promotes reprogramming of somatic cells to pluripotency. Cell Stem Cell. 3, 132-5.
- Martin, G. R., 1981. Isolation of a pluripotent cell line from early mouse embryos cultured in medium conditioned by teratocarcinoma stem cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 78, 7634-8.
- Maruyama, M., Ichisaka, T., Nakagawa, M., Yamanaka, S., 2005. Differential roles for Sox15 and *Sox-2* in transcriptional control in mouse embryonic stem cells. J Biol Chem. 280, 24371-9.
- Masui, S., Nakatake, Y., Toyooka, Y., Shimosato, D., Yagi, R., Takahashi, K., Okochi, H.,

Okuda, A., Matoba, R., Sharov, A. A., Ko, M. S., Niwa, H., 2007. Pluripotency governed by *Sox-2* via regulation of Oct3/4 expression in mouse embryonic stem cells. Nat Cell Biol. 9, 625-35.

- Mates, L., Chuah, M. K., Belay, E., Jerchow, B., Manoj, N., Acosta-Sanchez, A., Grzela, D.
 P., Schmitt, A., Becker, K., Matrai, J., Ma, L., Samara-Kuko, E., Gysemans, C.,
 Pryputniewicz, D., Miskey, C., Fletcher, B., VandenDriessche, T., Ivics, Z., Izsvak, Z.,
 2009. Molecular evolution of a novel hyperactive *Sleeping Beauty* transposase enables
 robust stable gene transfer in vertebrates. Nat Genet. 41, 753-61.
- Matsuda, T., Cepko, C. L., 2004. Electroporation and RNA interference in the rodent retina in vivo and in vitro. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 101, 16-22.
- Mc, C. B., 1950. The origin and behavior of mutable loci in maize. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 36, 344-55.
- Michiue, H., Tomizawa, K., Wei, F. Y., Matsushita, M., Lu, Y. F., Ichikawa, T., Tamiya, T., Date, I., Matsui, H., 2005. The NH2 terminus of influenza virus hemagglutinin-2 subunit peptides enhances the antitumor potency of polyarginine-mediated p53 protein transduction. J Biol Chem. 280, 8285-9.
- Mikkelsen, T. S., Hanna, J., Zhang, X., Ku, M., Wernig, M., Schorderet, P., Bernstein, B. E., Jaenisch, R., Lander, E. S., Meissner, A., 2008. Dissecting direct reprogramming through integrative genomic analysis. Nature. 454, 49-55.
- Miura, K., Okada, Y., Aoi, T., Okada, A., Takahashi, K., Okita, K., Nakagawa, M., Koyanagi, M., Tanabe, K., Ohnuki, M., Ogawa, D., Ikeda, E., Okano, H., Yamanaka, S., 2009.
 Variation in the safety of induced pluripotent stem cell lines. Nat Biotechnol. 27, 743-5.
- Moldt, B., Yant, S. R., Andersen, P. R., Kay, M. A., Mikkelsen, J. G., 2007. Cis-acting gene regulatory activities in the terminal regions of *Sleeping Beauty* DNA transposon-based vectors. Hum Gene Ther. 18, 1193-204.

Montserrat, N., Bahima, E. G., Batlle, L., Hafner, S., Rodrigues, A. M., Gonzalez, F., Izpisua

Belmonte, J. C., 2011. Generation of pig iPS cells: a model for cell therapy. J Cardiovasc Transl Res. 4, 121-30.

- Moretti, A., Bellin, M., Welling, A., Jung, C. B., Lam, J. T., Bott-Flugel, L., Dorn, T., Goedel, A., Hohnke, C., Hofmann, F., Seyfarth, M., Sinnecker, D., Schomig, A., Laugwitz, K. L., 2010. Patient-specific induced pluripotent stem-cell models for long-QT syndrome. N Engl J Med. 363, 1397-409.
- Murphy, M. J., Wilson, A., Trumpp, A., 2005. More than just proliferation: Myc function in stem cells. Trends Cell Biol. 15, 128-37.
- Nagy A, Gertsenstein M, Vintersten K, R, B., 2003. Manipulating the mouse embryo: A laboratory manual, Isolation and culture of blastocyst-derived stem cell lines. Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory Press, NY.
- Nair, V., 2008. Retrovirus-induced oncogenesis and safety of retroviral vectors. Curr Opin Mol Ther. 10, 431-8.
- Nakagawa, M., Koyanagi, M., Tanabe, K., Takahashi, K., Ichisaka, T., Aoi, T., Okita, K., Mochiduki, Y., Takizawa, N., Yamanaka, S., 2008. Generation of induced pluripotent stem cells without Myc from mouse and human fibroblasts. Nat Biotechnol. 26, 101-6.
- Nakai, H., Storm, T. A., Fuess, S., Kay, M. A., 2003. Pathways of removal of free DNA vector ends in normal and DNA-PKcs-deficient SCID mouse hepatocytes transduced with rAAV vectors. Hum Gene Ther. 14, 871-81.
- Naldini, L., Blomer, U., Gallay, P., Ory, D., Mulligan, R., Gage, F. H., Verma, I. M., Trono, D., 1996. In vivo gene delivery and stable transduction of nondividing cells by a lentiviral vector. Science. 272, 263-7.
- Narezkina, A., Taganov, K. D., Litwin, S., Stoyanova, R., Hayashi, J., Seeger, C., Skalka, A. M., Katz, R. A., 2004. Genome-wide analyses of avian sarcoma virus integration sites. J Virol. 78, 11656-63.

Newman, A. M., Cooper, J. B., 2010. Lab-specific gene expression signatures in pluripotent

stem cells. Cell Stem Cell. 7, 258-62.

- Nichols, J., Zevnik, B., Anastassiadis, K., Niwa, H., Klewe-Nebenius, D., Chambers, I., Scholer, H., Smith, A., 1998. Formation of pluripotent stem cells in the mammalian embryo depends on the POU transcription factor *Oct-4*. Cell. 95, 379-91.
- Niwa, H., Miyazaki, J., Smith, A. G., 2000. Quantitative expression of Oct-3/4 defines differentiation, dedifferentiation or self-renewal of ES cells. Nat Genet. 24, 372-6.
- Okada, M., Oka, M., Yoneda, Y., 2010. Effective culture conditions for the induction of pluripotent stem cells. Biochim Biophys Acta. 1800, 956-63.
- Okada, M., Yoneda, Y., 2011. The timing of retroviral silencing correlates with the quality of induced pluripotent stem cell lines. Biochim Biophys Acta. 1810, 226-35.
- Okita, K., Ichisaka, T., Yamanaka, S., 2007. Generation of germline-competent induced pluripotent stem cells. Nature. 448, 313-7.
- Okita, K., Nakagawa, M., Hyenjong, H., Ichisaka, T., Yamanaka, S., 2008. Generation of mouse induced pluripotent stem cells without viral vectors. Science. 322, 949-53.
- Okita, K., Yamanaka, S., 2011. Induced pluripotent stem cells: opportunities and challenges. Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci. 366, 2198-207.
- Park, I. H., Arora, N., Huo, H., Maherali, N., Ahfeldt, T., Shimamura, A., Lensch, M. W., Cowan, C., Hochedlinger, K., Daley, G. Q., 2008a. Disease-specific induced pluripotent stem cells. Cell. 134, 877-86.
- Park, I. H., Zhao, R., West, J. A., Yabuuchi, A., Huo, H., Ince, T. A., Lerou, P. H., Lensch, M. W., Daley, G. Q., 2008b. Reprogramming of human somatic cells to pluripotency with defined factors. Nature. 451, 141-6.
- Patel, M., Yang, S., 2010. Advances in reprogramming somatic cells to induced pluripotent stem cells. Stem Cell Rev. 6, 367-80.

- Pollack, Y., Stein, R., Razin, A., Cedar, H., 1980. Methylation of foreign DNA sequences in eukaryotic cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 77, 6463-7.
- Rodriguez-Piza, I., Richaud-Patin, Y., Vassena, R., Gonzalez, F., Barrero, M. J., Veiga, A., Raya, A., Izpisua Belmonte, J. C., 2010. Reprogramming of human fibroblasts to induced pluripotent stem cells under xeno-free conditions. Stem Cells. 28, 36-44.

Rossant, J., 2007. Stem cells: the magic brew. Nature. 448, 260-2.

Rowland, B. D., Peeper, D. S., 2006. *KLF-4*, p21 and context-dependent opposing forces in cancer. Nat Rev Cancer. 6, 11-23.

- Ruau, D., Ensenat-Waser, R., Dinger, T. C., Vallabhapurapu, D. S., Rolletschek, A., Hacker, C., Hieronymus, T., Wobus, A. M., Muller, A. M., Zenke, M., 2008. Pluripotency associated genes are reactivated by chromatin-modifying agents in neurosphere cells. Stem Cells. 26, 920-6.
- Rungarunlert, S., Klincumhom, N., Bock, I., Nemes, C., Techakumphu, M., Pirity, M. K., Dinnyes, A., 2011. Enhanced cardiac differentiation of mouse embryonic stem cells by use of the slow-turning, lateral vessel (STLV) bioreactor. Biotechnol Lett. 33, 1565-73.
- Rungarunlert, S., Techakumphu, M., Pirity, M. K., Dinnyes, A., 2009. Embryoid body formation from embryonic and induced pluripotent stem cells: Benefits of bioreactors. World J Stem Cells. 1, 11-21.
- Schmidt, E. V., 1999. The role of c-myc in cellular growth control. Oncogene. 18, 2988-96.
- Scholer, H. R., Hatzopoulos, A. K., Balling, R., Suzuki, N., Gruss, P., 1989. A family of octamer-specific proteins present during mouse embryogenesis: evidence for germline-specific expression of an Oct factor. EMBO J. 8, 2543-50.
- Schroder, A. R., Shinn, P., Chen, H., Berry, C., Ecker, J. R., Bushman, F., 2002. HIV-1 integration in the human genome favors active genes and local hotspots. Cell. 110, 521-9.

- Seki, T., Yuasa, S., Fukuda, K., 2012. Generation of induced pluripotent stem cells from a small amount of human peripheral blood using a combination of activated T cells and Sendai virus. Nat Protoc. 7, 718-28.
- Seoane, J., Le, H. V., Massague, J., 2002. Myc suppression of the p21(Cip1) Cdk inhibitor influences the outcome of the p53 response to DNA damage. Nature. 419, 729-34.
- Silva, J., Barrandon, O., Nichols, J., Kawaguchi, J., Theunissen, T. W., Smith, A., 2008. Promotion of reprogramming to ground state pluripotency by signal inhibition. PLoS Biol. 6, e253.
- Smith, Z. D., Nachman, I., Regev, A., Meissner, A., 2010. Dynamic single-cell imaging of direct reprogramming reveals an early specifying event. Nat Biotechnol. 28, 521-6.
- Soldner, F., Hockemeyer, D., Beard, C., Gao, Q., Bell, G. W., Cook, E. G., Hargus, G., Blak, A., Cooper, O., Mitalipova, M., Isacson, O., Jaenisch, R., 2009. Parkinson's disease patient-derived induced pluripotent stem cells free of viral reprogramming factors. Cell. 136, 964-77.
- Sommer, C. A., Sommer, A. G., Longmire, T. A., Christodoulou, C., Thomas, D. D., Gostissa, M., Alt, F. W., Murphy, G. J., Kotton, D. N., Mostoslavsky, G., 2010. Excision of reprogramming transgenes improves the differentiation potential of iPS cells generated with a single excisable vector. Stem Cells. 28, 64-74.
- Sridharan, R., Tchieu, J., Mason, M. J., Yachechko, R., Kuoy, E., Horvath, S., Zhou, Q., Plath, K., 2009. Role of the murine reprogramming factors in the induction of pluripotency. Cell. 136, 364-77.
- Stadtfeld, M., Apostolou, E., Akutsu, H., Fukuda, A., Follett, P., Natesan, S., Kono, T., Shioda, T., Hochedlinger, K., 2010a. Aberrant silencing of imprinted genes on chromosome 12qF1 in mouse induced pluripotent stem cells. Nature. 465, 175-81.
- Stadtfeld, M., Brennand, K., Hochedlinger, K., 2008a. Reprogramming of pancreatic beta cells into induced pluripotent stem cells. Current Biology. 18, 890-894.

- Stadtfeld, M., Hochedlinger, K., 2009. Without a trace? PiggyBac-ing toward pluripotency. Nat Methods. 6, 329-30.
- Stadtfeld, M., Maherali, N., Borkent, M., Hochedlinger, K., 2010b. A reprogrammable mouse strain from gene-targeted embryonic stem cells. Nat Methods. 7, 53-5.
- Stadtfeld, M., Maherali, N., Breault, D. T., Hochedlinger, K., 2008b. Defining molecular cornerstones during fibroblast to iPS cell reprogramming in mouse. Cell Stem Cell. 2, 230-40.
- Stadtfeld, M., Nagaya, M., Utikal, J., Weir, G., Hochedlinger, K., 2008c. Induced pluripotent stem cells generated without viral integration. Science. 322, 945-9.
- Stevens, L. C., 1973. A new inbred subline of mice (129-terSv) with a high incidence of spontaneous congenital testicular teratomas. J Natl Cancer Inst. 50, 235-42.
- Sugii, S., Kida, Y., Kawamura, T., Suzuki, J., Vassena, R., Yin, Y. Q., Lutz, M. K., Berggren, W. T., Izpisua Belmonte, J. C., Evans, R. M., 2010. Human and mouse adiposederived cells support feeder-independent induction of pluripotent stem cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 107, 3558-63.
- Sullivan, K. A., Hayes, J. M., Wiggin, T. D., Backus, C., Su Oh, S., Lentz, S. I., Brosius, F., 3rd, Feldman, E. L., 2007. Mouse models of diabetic neuropathy. Neurobiol Dis. 28, 276-85.
- Sun, N., Panetta, N. J., Gupta, D. M., Wilson, K. D., Lee, A., Jia, F., Hu, S., Cherry, A. M., Robbins, R. C., Longaker, M. T., Wu, J. C., 2009. Feeder-free derivation of induced pluripotent stem cells from adult human adipose stem cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 106, 15720-5.
- Suzuki, O., Matsuda, J., Takano, K., Yamamoto, Y., Asano, T., Naiki, M., Kusanagi, M., 1999. Effect of genetic background on establishment of mouse embryonic stem cells. Exp Anim. 48, 213-6.

Swistowski, A., Peng, J., Liu, Q., Mali, P., Rao, M. S., Cheng, L., Zeng, X., 2010. Efficient

generation of functional dopaminergic neurons from human induced pluripotent stem cells under defined conditions. Stem Cells. 28, 1893-904.

- Szymczak, A. L., Workman, C. J., Wang, Y., Vignali, K. M., Dilioglou, S., Vanin, E. F., Vignali, D. A., 2004. Correction of multi-gene deficiency in vivo using a single 'selfcleaving' 2A peptide-based retroviral vector. Nat Biotechnol. 22, 589-94.
- Tada, M., Takahama, Y., Abe, K., Nakatsuji, N., Tada, T., 2001. Nuclear reprogramming of somatic cells by in vitro hybridization with ES cells. Curr Biol. 11, 1553-8.
- Takahashi, K., Okita, K., Nakagawa, M., Yamanaka, S., 2007a. Induction of pluripotent stem cells from fibroblast cultures. Nat Protoc. 2, 3081-9.
- Takahashi, K., Tanabe, K., Ohnuki, M., Narita, M., Ichisaka, T., Tomoda, K., Yamanaka, S., 2007b. Induction of pluripotent stem cells from adult human fibroblasts by defined factors. Cell. 131, 861-72.
- Takahashi, K., Yamanaka, S., 2006. Induction of pluripotent stem cells from mouse embryonic and adult fibroblast cultures by defined factors. Cell. 126, 663-76.
- Tanimoto, Y., Iijima, S., Hasegawa, Y., Suzuki, Y., Daitoku, Y., Mizuno, S., Ishige, T., Kudo, T., Takahashi, S., Kunita, S., Sugiyama, F., Yagami, K., 2008. Embryonic stem cells derived from C57BL/6J and C57BL/6N mice. Comp Med. 58, 347-52.
- Thibault, S. T., Singer, M. A., Miyazaki, W. Y., Milash, B., Dompe, N. A., Singh, C. M., Buchholz, R., Demsky, M., Fawcett, R., Francis-Lang, H. L., Ryner, L., Cheung, L. M., Chong, A., Erickson, C., Fisher, W. W., Greer, K., Hartouni, S. R., Howie, E., Jakkula, L., Joo, D., Killpack, K., Laufer, A., Mazzotta, J., Smith, R. D., Stevens, L. M., Stuber, C., Tan, L. R., Ventura, R., Woo, A., Zakrajsek, I., Zhao, L., Chen, F., Swimmer, C., Kopczynski, C., Duyk, G., Winberg, M. L., Margolis, J., 2004. A complementary transposon tool kit for Drosophila melanogaster using P and piggyBac. Nat Genet. 36, 283-7.
- Thomson, J. A., Itskovitz-Eldor, J., Shapiro, S. S., Waknitz, M. A., Swiergiel, J. J., Marshall,V. S., Jones, J. M., 1998. Embryonic stem cell lines derived from human blastocysts.

- Threadgill, D. W., Yee, D., Matin, A., Nadeau, J. H., Magnuson, T., 1997. Genealogy of the 129 inbred strains: 129/SvJ is a contaminated inbred strain. Mamm Genome. 8, 390-3.
- Tsai, S. Y., Clavel, C., Kim, S., Ang, Y. S., Grisanti, L., Lee, D. F., Kelley, K., Rendl, M., 2010. Oct-4 and Klf-4 reprogram dermal papilla cells into induced pluripotent stem cells. Stem Cells. 28, 221-8.
- VandenDriessche, T., Ivics, Z., Izsvak, Z., Chuah, M. K., 2009. Emerging potential of transposons for gene therapy and generation of induced pluripotent stem cells. Blood. 114, 1461-8.
- Varas, F., Stadtfeld, M., de Andres-Aguayo, L., Maherali, N., di Tullio, A., Pantano, L., Notredame, C., Hochedlinger, K., Graf, T., 2009. Fibroblast-derived induced pluripotent stem cells show no common retroviral vector insertions. Stem Cells. 27, 300-6.
- Vigdal, T. J., Kaufman, C. D., Izsvak, Z., Voytas, D. F., Ivics, Z., 2002. Common physical properties of DNA affecting target site selection of *sleeping beauty* and other Tc1/mariner transposable elements. J Mol Biol. 323, 441-52.
- Wadia, J. S., Dowdy, S. F., 2002. Protein transduction technology. Curr Opin Biotechnol. 13, 52-6.
- Wakayama, T., Yanagimachi, R., 1999. Cloning of male mice from adult tail-tip cells. Nat Genet. 22, 127-8.
- Walisko, O., Schorn, A., Rolfs, F., Devaraj, A., Miskey, C., Izsvak, Z., Ivics, Z., 2008. Transcriptional activities of the *Sleeping Beauty* transposon and shielding its genetic cargo with insulators. Mol Ther. 16, 359-69.
- Wang, W., Lin, C., Lu, D., Ning, Z., Cox, T., Melvin, D., Wang, X., Bradley, A., Liu, P., 2008. Chromosomal transposition of PiggyBac in mouse embryonic stem cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 105, 9290-5.

- Warren, L., Manos, P. D., Ahfeldt, T., Loh, Y. H., Li, H., Lau, F., Ebina, W., Mandal, P. K., Smith, Z. D., Meissner, A., Daley, G. Q., Brack, A. S., Collins, J. J., Cowan, C., Schlaeger, T. M., Rossi, D. J., 2010. Highly efficient reprogramming to pluripotency and directed differentiation of human cells with synthetic modified mRNA. Cell Stem Cell. 7, 618-30.
- Waterston, R. H., Lindblad-Toh, K., Birney, E., Rogers, J., Abril, J. F., Agarwal, P., Agarwala, R., Ainscough, R., Alexandersson, M., An, P., Antonarakis, S. E., Attwood, J., Baertsch, R., Bailey, J., Barlow, K., Beck, S., Berry, E., Birren, B., Bloom, T., Bork, P., Botcherby, M., Bray, N., Brent, M. R., Brown, D. G., Brown, S. D., Bult, C., Burton, J., Butler, J., Campbell, R. D., Carninci, P., Cawley, S., Chiaromonte, F., Chinwalla, A. T., Church, D. M., Clamp, M., Clee, C., Collins, F. S., Cook, L. L., Copley, R. R., Coulson, A., Couronne, O., Cuff, J., Curwen, V., Cutts, T., Daly, M., David, R., Davies, J., Delehaunty, K. D., Deri, J., Dermitzakis, E. T., Dewey, C., Dickens, N. J., Diekhans, M., Dodge, S., Dubchak, I., Dunn, D. M., Eddy, S. R., Elnitski, L., Emes, R. D., Eswara, P., Eyras, E., Felsenfeld, A., Fewell, G. A., Flicek, P., Foley, K., Frankel, W. N., Fulton, L. A., Fulton, R. S., Furey, T. S., Gage, D., Gibbs, R. A., Glusman, G., Gnerre, S., Goldman, N., Goodstadt, L., Grafham, D., Graves, T. A., Green, E. D., Gregory, S., Guigo, R., Guyer, M., Hardison, R. C., Haussler, D., Hayashizaki, Y., Hillier, L. W., Hinrichs, A., Hlavina, W., Holzer, T., Hsu, F., Hua, A., Hubbard, T., Hunt, A., Jackson, I., Jaffe, D. B., Johnson, L. S., Jones, M., Jones, T. A., Joy, A., Kamal, M., Karlsson, E. K., Karolchik, D., Kasprzyk, A., Kawai, J., Keibler, E., Kells, C., Kent, W. J., Kirby, A., Kolbe, D. L., Korf, I., Kucherlapati, R. S., Kulbokas, E. J., Kulp, D., Landers, T., Leger, J. P., Leonard, S., Letunic, I., Levine, R., Li, J., Li, M., Lloyd, C., Lucas, S., Ma, B., Maglott, D. R., Mardis, E. R., Matthews, L., Mauceli, E., Mayer, J. H., McCarthy, M., McCombie, W. R., McLaren, S., McLay, K., McPherson, J. D., Meldrim, J., Meredith, B., Mesirov, J. P., Miller, W., Miner, T. L., Mongin, E., Montgomery, K. T., Morgan, M., Mott, R., Mullikin, J. C., Muzny, D. M., Nash, W. E., Nelson, J. O., Nhan, M. N., Nicol, R., Ning, Z., Nusbaum, C., O'Connor, M. J., Okazaki, Y., Oliver, K., Overton-Larty, E., Pachter, L., Parra, G., Pepin, K. H., Peterson, J., Pevzner, P., Plumb, R., Pohl, C. S., Poliakov, A., Ponce, T. C., Ponting, C. P., Potter, S., Quail, M., Reymond, A., Roe, B. A., Roskin, K. M., Rubin, E. M., Rust, A. G., Santos, R., Sapojnikov, V., Schultz, B., Schultz, J., Schwartz, M. S., Schwartz, S., Scott, C., Seaman, S., Searle, S., Sharpe, T.,

Sheridan, A., Shownkeen, R., Sims, S., Singer, J. B., Slater, G., Smit, A., Smith, D. R.,
Spencer, B., Stabenau, A., Stange-Thomann, N., Sugnet, C., Suyama, M., Tesler, G.,
Thompson, J., Torrents, D., Trevaskis, E., Tromp, J., Ucla, C., Ureta-Vidal, A.,
Vinson, J. P., Von Niederhausern, A. C., Wade, C. M., Wall, M., Weber, R. J., Weiss,
R. B., Wendl, M. C., West, A. P., Wetterstrand, K., Wheeler, R., Whelan, S.,
Wierzbowski, J., Willey, D., Williams, S., Wilson, R. K., Winter, E., Worley, K. C.,
Wyman, D., Yang, S., Yang, S. P., Zdobnov, E. M., Zody, M. C., Lander, E. S., 2002.
Initial sequencing and comparative analysis of the mouse genome. Nature. 420, 520-62.

- Wernig, M., Lengner, C. J., Hanna, J., Lodato, M. A., Steine, E., Foreman, R., Staerk, J., Markoulaki, S., Jaenisch, R., 2008a. A drug-inducible transgenic system for direct reprogramming of multiple somatic cell types. Nat Biotechnol. 26, 916-24.
- Wernig, M., Meissner, A., Cassady, J. P., Jaenisch, R., 2008b. c-Myc is dispensable for direct reprogramming of mouse fibroblasts. Cell Stem Cell. 2, 10-2.
- Wernig, M., Meissner, A., Foreman, R., Brambrink, T., Ku, M., Hochedlinger, K., Bernstein, B. E., Jaenisch, R., 2007. In vitro reprogramming of fibroblasts into a pluripotent ES-cell-like state. Nature. 448, 318-24.
- Wernig, M., Zhao, J. P., Pruszak, J., Hedlund, E., Fu, D., Soldner, F., Broccoli, V., Constantine-Paton, M., Isacson, O., Jaenisch, R., 2008c. Neurons derived from reprogrammed fibroblasts functionally integrate into the fetal brain and improve symptoms of rats with Parkinson's disease. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 105, 5856-61.
- Wicker, T., Sabot, F., Hua-Van, A., Bennetzen, J. L., Capy, P., Chalhoub, B., Flavell, A., Leroy, P., Morgante, M., Panaud, O., Paux, E., SanMiguel, P., Schulman, A. H., 2007. A unified classification system for eukaryotic transposable elements. Nat Rev Genet. 8, 973-82.
- Wilson, M. H., Coates, C. J., George, A. L., Jr., 2007. PiggyBac transposon-mediated gene transfer in human cells. Mol Ther. 15, 139-45.

Woltjen, K., Michael, I. P., Mohseni, P., Desai, R., Mileikovsky, M., Hamalainen, R.,

Cowling, R., Wang, W., Liu, P., Gertsenstein, M., Kaji, K., Sung, H. K., Nagy, A., 2009. piggyBac transposition reprograms fibroblasts to induced pluripotent stem cells. Nature. 458, 766-70.

- Wu, S. C., Meir, Y. J., Coates, C. J., Handler, A. M., Pelczar, P., Moisyadi, S., Kaminski, J. M., 2006. piggyBac is a flexible and highly active transposon as compared to *sleeping beauty*, Tol2, and Mos1 in mammalian cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 103, 15008-13.
- Wu, Y., Zhang, Y., Mishra, A., Tardif, S. D., Hornsby, P. J., 2010. Generation of induced pluripotent stem cells from newborn marmoset skin fibroblasts. Stem Cell Res. 4, 180-8.
- Wu, Z., Chen, J., Ren, J., Bao, L., Liao, J., Cui, C., Rao, L., Li, H., Gu, Y., Dai, H., Zhu, H., Teng, X., Cheng, L., Xiao, L., 2009. Generation of pig induced pluripotent stem cells with a drug-inducible system. J Mol Cell Biol. 1, 46-54.
- Yant, S. R., Meuse, L., Chiu, W., Ivics, Z., Izsvak, Z., Kay, M. A., 2000. Somatic integration and long-term transgene expression in normal and haemophilic mice using a DNA transposon system. Nat Genet. 25, 35-41.
- Yant, S. R., Wu, X., Huang, Y., Garrison, B., Burgess, S. M., Kay, M. A., 2005. Highresolution genome-wide mapping of transposon integration in mammals. Mol Cell Biol. 25, 2085-94.
- Yates, J., Warren, N., Reisman, D., Sugden, B., 1984. A cis-acting element from the Epstein-Barr viral genome that permits stable replication of recombinant plasmids in latently infected cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 81, 3806-10.
- Yates, J. L., Warren, N., Sugden, B., 1985. Stable replication of plasmids derived from Epstein-Barr virus in various mammalian cells. Nature. 313, 812-5.
- Yazawa, M., Hsueh, B., Jia, X., Pasca, A. M., Bernstein, J. A., Hallmayer, J., Dolmetsch, R.E., 2011. Using induced pluripotent stem cells to investigate cardiac phenotypes in Timothy syndrome. Nature. 471, 230-4.

- Ying, Q. L., Wray, J., Nichols, J., Batlle-Morera, L., Doble, B., Woodgett, J., Cohen, P., Smith, A., 2008. The ground state of embryonic stem cell self-renewal. Nature. 453, 519-23.
- Yoshida, Y., Takahashi, K., Okita, K., Ichisaka, T., Yamanaka, S., 2009. Hypoxia enhances the generation of induced pluripotent stem cells. Cell Stem Cell. 5, 237-41.
- Yu, J., Hu, K., Smuga-Otto, K., Tian, S., Stewart, R., Slukvin, II, Thomson, J. A., 2009.
 Human induced pluripotent stem cells free of vector and transgene sequences. Science. 324, 797-801.
- Yu, J., Vodyanik, M. A., Smuga-Otto, K., Antosiewicz-Bourget, J., Frane, J. L., Tian, S., Nie, J., Jonsdottir, G. A., Ruotti, V., Stewart, R., Slukvin, II, Thomson, J. A., 2007. Induced pluripotent stem cell lines derived from human somatic cells. Science. 318, 1917-20.
- Yusa, K., Rad, R., Takeda, J., Bradley, A., 2009. Generation of transgene-free induced pluripotent mouse stem cells by the piggyBac transposon. Nat Methods. 6, 363-9.
- Zayed, H., Izsvak, Z., Walisko, O., Ivics, Z., 2004. Development of hyperactive *sleeping beauty* transposon vectors by mutational analysis. Mol Ther. 9, 292-304.
- Zhao, W., Hisamuddin, I. M., Nandan, M. O., Babbin, B. A., Lamb, N. E., Yang, V. W., 2004. Identification of Kruppel-like factor 4 as a potential tumor suppressor gene in colorectal cancer. Oncogene. 23, 395-402.
- Zhao, X. Y., Li, W., Lv, Z., Liu, L., Tong, M., Hai, T., Hao, J., Guo, C. L., Ma, Q. W., Wang, L., Zeng, F., Zhou, Q., 2009. iPS cells produce viable mice through tetraploid complementation. Nature. 461, 86-90.
- Zhou, W., Freed, C. R., 2009. Adenoviral gene delivery can reprogram human fibroblasts to induced pluripotent stem cells. Stem Cells. 27, 2667-74.

PUBLICATION LISTS

International paper publication:

- Muenthaisong, S., Ujhelly, O., Polgar Z., Varga, E., Ivics, Z., Pirity, M., Dinnyés, A. 2012.
 Generation of mouse induced pluripotent stem cells from various genetic backgrounds
 by *Sleeping Beauty* transposon mediated gene transfer. *Epub. Experimental Cell Research: 28 July 2012*
- <u>Muenthaisong, S.</u>, Dinnyes, A., and Nedambale, T.L. 2011. Review of somatic cell nuclear transfer in pig. African J Biot. 10 (76): 17384-17390.
- Klincumhom, N., Pirity, M.K., Ujhelly, O., <u>Muenthaisong, S.</u>, Rungarunlert, S., Tharasanit, T., Techakumphu, M. and Dinnyés, A. 2012. Generation of neuronal progenitor cells (NPC) and neurons derived from mouse embryonic stem (ES) and induced pluripotent (iPS) cells *in vitro*. *Accepted: Cellular Reprogramming*
- <u>Muenthaisong S.</u>, Laowtammathron C., Ketudat-Cairns M., Parnpai R., and Hochi S. 2007. Quality analysis of buffalo blastocysts derived from oocytes vitrified before or after enucleation and reconstructed with somatic cell nuclei. Theriogenology. 1; 67 (4): 893-900 (Epub: Dec 8, 2006).
- Suteevun T, Parnpai R, Smith SL, Chang C-C, <u>Muenthaisong S</u>, and Tian XC. 2006. Epigenetic characteristics of cloned and *in vitro* fertilized swamp buffalo (Bubalus bubalis) embryos. J Anim Sci. 84: 2065-2071.
- Suteevun T., Smith SL., <u>Muenthaisong S</u>., Yang X., Parnpai R., and Tian XC. 2006. Anomalous mRNA levels of chromatin remodeling genes in swamp buffalo (*Bubalus bubalis*) cloned embryos. Theriogenology. 65: 1704-15.

Publications in preparation:

Generation of cardiomyocytes from mouse embryonic and induced pluripotent stem cells by using slow turning lateral vessel (STLV) bioreactor. Rungarunlert, S, Klincumhom, N, Ujhelly, O, Nemes, C, <u>Muenthaisong, S</u>, Techakumphu, M, Pirity, MK. and Dinnyés, A.

Abstract in Peer-reviewed Journals:

- Muenthaisong, S., Ujhelly, O., Varga, E., Carstea A.C., Ivics, Z., Pirity, M., and Dinnyés,
 A. 2011. Generation of mouse *induced* pluripotent stem (iPS) cells from various genetic background by *Sleeping Beauty* (SB) Transposon mediated gene transfer. *Reprod.Fert.Dev.* 23 (1): 292.
- <u>Muenthaisong, S.</u>, Ujhelly, O., Varga, E., Ivics, Z., Pirity, M. and Dinnyes, A. 2010. Generation of induced pluripotent stem cells from mouse embryonic fibroblasts by *Sleeping beauty* transposon. Transgenic Research 19(2): 87.
- Rungarunlert, S., Tar, K., <u>Muenthaisong, S.</u>, Techakumphu, M., Pirity, M.K., and Dinnyés,
 A. 2010. Differentiation of mouse embryonic stem cells into cardiomyocytes by using slow tunning lateral vessel (STLV/Bioreactor). *Reprod.Fert.Dev.* 22 (1): 398.
- Dinnyes, A., Ujhelly, O., Csilla, N., <u>Muenthaisong, S.</u>, Rungalunlert, S., Klincumhom N., Varga, E., Lauko, A., Tosoki, R., Jakus, M., Polgar, Zs., Feher, A., Pirity, M.K. and Kovacs, K. 2011. Pluripotent stem cell-derived cardiac and neural cells for toxicity testing and regenerative medicine. Polish Biochemical Society & Polish Academy of Science. L11.2
- Parnpai, R., Laowtammathron, C., Terao, T., Lorthongpanich, C., <u>Muenthaisong, S.</u>, Vetchayan, T., and Hochi, S. 2004. Development into blastocysts of swamp buffalo oocytes after vitrification and nuclear transfer. *Reprod.Fert.Dev.* 16 (2): 180-181.
- Laowtammathron, C., Terao, T., Lorthongpanich, C., <u>Muenthaisong, S</u>., Vetchayan, T., Hochi, S., and Parnpai, R. 2004. Effect of hatching status on vitrification of cloned bovine blastocysts. *Reprod.Fert.Dev.* 16 (2): 174.
- Lorthongpanich, C., Laowtammathron, C., <u>Muenthaisong, S.</u>, Vetchayan, T., Ketudat-Cairns, M., Likitdecharote, B. and Parnpai, R. 2004. *In vitro* development of enucleated domestic cat oocytes reconstructed with skin fibroblasts of domestic and leopard cats. *Reprod.Fert.Dev.* 16 (2): 149.

Laowtammathron C., Imsoonthornruksa S., <u>Mueanthaisong S.</u>, Lorthongpanich C.,
 Vetchayun T., Sang-ngam C., Tangthai C., Ketudat-Cairns M. and R. Parnpai. 2005.
 Effect of two concentrations of cryoprotectant in vitrification solution on post-warmed survival of cloned bovine blastocysts vitrified by micro-drop technique. The 12th

International congress on Biotechnology in animal reproduction. 135-140.

International Abstract and Poster presentation:

- Muenthaisong, S., Rasmussen, MA., Hall, V., Ujhelly O., Dinnyes, A. and Hyttel, P. *In vitro* differentiation potential of porcine induced pluripotent stem cell-like cells derived from neural progenitor cells. *The 10th ISSCR Annual meeting*. Yokohama, Japan 2012.
- Hoffding, M., M.A. Rasmussen, V.J. Hall, <u>S. Muenthaisong</u>, A. Dinnyes, and P. Hyttel. Ultrastructure of porcine induced pluripotent stem cell-like colonies and derived embryoid bodies. *The 10th ISSCR Annual meeting*. Yokohama, Japan 2012.
- Dinnyes, A., C. Nemes, <u>S. Muenthaisong</u>, N. Klincumhom, S. Rungarunlert, E. Varga, Z. Tancos, A. Lauko, R. Tosoki, M. Jakus, Z. Polgar, S. Berzsenyi, H. Raveh-Amit, K.A. Kovacs, and A. Feher. Pluripotent stem cell-derived differentiated cells for toxicity testing and regenerative medicine. in Resolve International Meeting "Tissue Remodeling in Ageing and Disease Emerging Insights into a Complex Pathology". 28. March 2012. Vienna, Austria
- <u>Muenthaisong, S.</u>, Ujhelly, O., Varga, E., Carstea A.C., Ivics, Z., Pirity, M., Dinnyés, A. 2010. Generation of mouse induced pluripotent stem (iPS) cells from various genetic background by *Sleeping Beauty* (SB) Transposon mediated gene transfer. 37th Annual Conference of the IETS, Olando, Florida, January 8-11, 2011.
- <u>Muenthaisong, S.</u>, Ujhelly, O., Varga, E., Ivics, Z., Pirity, M., Dinnyés, A. Generation of induced pluripotent stem cells from mouse embryonic fibroblasts by *Sleeping Beauty* Transposon. 9th *Transgenic Technology Meeting (TT2010)*, Berlin, Germany, March 22-24, 2010.

Muenthaisong, S., Ujhelly, O., Varga, E., Polgár, Zs., Ivics, Z., Pirity, M., Dinnyés, A.

2010. *Sleeping Beauty* (SB) transposon mediated gene transfer in mouse fibroblast to induced pluripotent stem (iPS) cells. *The* 7th Annual Conference of Asian Reproductive Biotechnology Society, Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia, November 8-10, 2010.

- Varga E., Nemes C., Klincumhom N., Polgar Z., <u>Muenthaisong S.</u>, Ujhelly O., Pirity M.K., and Dinnyés, A. 2011. Generation of mouse induced pluripotent stem cells from different genetic backgrounds by exisable lentiviral system. The 9th ISSCR meeting, Toronto, Canada. June 15-18, 2011.
- Varga E., Nemes C., Klincumhom N., Polgar Z., <u>Muenthaisong S.</u>, Ujhelly O., Pirity M.K., and Dinnyés, A. 2011. Generation of transgene-free mouse induced pluripotent stem cells by an excisable lentiviral system. The 4th DSSCR meeting. Leiden University Medical Center, Leiden, Netherlands. April 15, 2011.
- Rungarunlert, S., Tar, K., <u>Muenthaisong, S.</u>, Techakumphu, M., Pirity, M., Dinnyés, A. 2010. Differentiation of mouse embryonic stem cells into cardiomyocytes by using slow turning lateral vessel (STLV/BIOREACTOR). 36th Annual Conference of the IETS/23rd Annual Meeting SBTE, Cordoba, Argentina, January 9-13, 2010.
- Polgár, Zs., Tar, K., Rungarunlert, S., <u>Muenthaisong, S.</u>, Bock, I., Pirity, M., Dinnyés, A. Improved derivation of Embryonic Stem Cell Lines from Inbred C57Bl/6J Mouse Strains. *ISSCR 7th Annual Meeting*, Barcelona, Spain, July 8-11, 2009
- <u>Muenthaisong S.</u>, Seoung-Keun C., and Jin-Hoi K. 2007. Linking restoration of phenotypic normality during recloning of transgenic pig harboring human truncated TPO gene by somatic cell nuclear transfer. *The 3rd Annual Conference of Asian Reproductive Biotechnology Society* Horison hotel, Hanoi, Vietnam. 29 November – 1 December, 2007.
- <u>Muenthaisong S.</u>, Laowtammathron C., Ketudat-Cairns M., Hochi S., and Parnpai R. 2006. Quality analysis of buffalo balstocysts derived from oocytes vitrified before or after enucleation and reconstructed with somatic cell nuclei. *The Korean Society of Animal Reproduction* Kangwon University, Korea. 16-17 June, 2006.

- Sang-ngam, C., Imsoonthornruksa S., Tangthai C., Srirattana, K., Tunwattana, W., <u>Muenthaisong, S</u>., Laowtammathron C., Lorthongpanich, C., Ketudart-cairn, M. and Parnpai, R. 2005. Interspecies nuclear transfer using female and male gaur (*Bos Gaurus*) skin fibroblasts reconstructed with enucleated bovine oocytes. *The 2nd Asian Reproductive Biotechnology* Bangkok, Thailand. 2-7 November, 2005.
- Lorthongpanich, C., Laowtammathron, C., <u>Muenthaisong, S.</u>, Vetchayan, T., Wongviriya, W, Ketudat-Cairns, M., Likitdecharote, B. and Parnpai, R. 2004. Cloning of leopard cat embryos using enucleated domestic cat oocytes as recipient cytoplast. *The First Asian Reproductive Biotechnology Conference*. Ho Chi Minh City, 12-14 April, 2004.
- Laowtammathron, C., Terao, T., Lorthongpanich, C., <u>Muenthaisong, S</u>., Vetchayan, T., Hochi, S., and Parnpai, R. 2004. The effect of ficoll in vitrification solution and hatching status of cloned bovine blastocysts on the survival rate after vitrifivation by using cryotop. *The First Asian Reproductive Biotechnology Conference*. Ho Chi Minh City, 12-14 April, 2004.
- Muenthaisong, S., Laowtammathron, C., Lorthongpanich, C., Terao, T., Vetchayan, T., Hochi, S., and Parnpai, R. 2004. *In vitro* development of cloned swamp buffalo embryos derived from vitrified matured oocytes. *The First Asian Reproductive Biotechnology Conference*. Ho Chi Minh City, 12-14 April, 2004.
- Laowtammathron, C., Lorthongpanich, C., <u>Muenthaisong, S.</u>, Vetchayan, T., Somwan, S., Mernkatoke, P., Patitung, S., and Parnpai, R. 2003. Production of dairy and beef cattle by cloning technology. The 10th Tri-University International Joint Seminar and Symphosium, Mie University, Japan, October 18-21, 389-393.

Abstract and poster in Hungary:

Muenthaisong S., Ujhelly O., Varga E., Polgar Zs., Carstea A.C., Ivics Z., Pirity K.M. and Dinnyes A. Induction of pluripotent stem (iPS) cells by *Sleeping Beauty* (SB) Transposon mediated gene transfer. "Fókuszban az őssejt-kutatás" - Az őssejt kutatás kardiovaszkuláris vonatkozásai, Debrecen, Hungary. March 10-11, 2011.

- Dinnyés A., Ujhelly O., Nemes C., <u>Muenthaisong S.</u>, Rungarunlert S., Klincumhom N., Varga E., Polgar Z., and Pirity M.K. "Pluripotent stem cells for drug testing and regenerative medicine", Advances in Medical Biotechnology onference, Pécs, Hungary. 29 November - 1 December 2010
- Pirity M.K., Ujhelly O., Nemes C., <u>Muenthaisong S.</u>, Rungarunlert S., Klincumhom N., Varga E., Polgar Z. Carstea C., Bodo S., and Dinnyés A. Testi sejtek genetikai újraprogramozásának lehetőségei – Tools for Genetic Reprogramming of Somatic Cells. MBK Napok, Gödöllő, Hungary. Nov. 30- dec.1, 2009.
- Pirity M, Rungarunlert S, <u>Muenthaisong S</u>, Bock I, Nemes Cs, Fehér A, Tar K, Dinnyés A. Szívizomsejtek előállítása embrionális (ES) és indukált pluripotens (iPS) egér őssejtekből. XV. Sejt- és Fejlődésbiológiai Napok, Nyíregyháza, 2009. április 17-19. ES22
- Rungarunlert S, <u>Muenthaisong S</u>, Fehér A, Bock I, Tar K, Techakumphu M, Pirity M, Dinnyés A. Differentiation of embryonic stem (ES) cells into cardiac lineage. XV. Sejtés Fejlődésbiológiai Napok, Nyíregyháza, 2009. április 17-19. PS08
- Polgár Zs., Tar K, Rungarunlert S, <u>Muenthaisong S</u>, Bock I, Pirity MK, Dinnyés A.: Generation of new C57B1/6J mouse embryonic stem cell lines. XV. Sejt- és Fejlodésbiológiai Napok, Nyíregyháza, 2009. április 17-19.

Abstract and poster in Thailand:

- Laowtammathron C., Imsoonthornruksa S., <u>Mueanthaisong S.</u>, Lorthongpanich C.,
 Vetchayun T., Sang-ngam C., Tangthai C., Ketudat-Cairns M. and R. Parnpai. 2005.
 Effect of two concentrations of cryoprotectant in vitrification solution on post-warmed survival of cloned bovine blastocysts vitrified by micro-drop technique. The 12th International congress on Biotechnology in animal reproduction. P135-140.
- Lorthongpanich, C., Laowtammathron, C., <u>Muenthaisong, S.</u>, Vetchayan, T., Wongviriya,
 W, Ketudat-Cairns, M., Likitdecharote, B. and Parnpai, R. 2004. Interspecies cloning using domestic cat oocytes as recipient cytoplast and skin fibroblast of leopard cats as

donor cells. Proceeding of The 42st Kasetsart University Annual Conference, 3-6 Febuary, 2004. Bangkok, Thailand. 351-355.

- Lorthongpanich, C., Laowtammathron, C., Terao, T. <u>Muenthaisong, S.</u>, Vetchayan, T., Hochi, S., and Parnpai, R. 2004. Development into blastocysts of swamp buffalo oocytes after vitrification and nuclear transfer. Proceeding of The 42st Kasetsart University Annual Conference, 3-6 Febuary, 2004. Bangkok, Thailand. 83-87.
- Lorthongpanich, C., Laowtammathron, C., Terao, T. <u>Muenthaisong, S</u>., Vetchayan, T., Hochi, S., and Parnpai, R. 2003. Developmental potential of cloned swamp buffalo embryo reconstructed with vitrified matured oocytes. Proceeding in Stem cells and somatic cells cloning research: present status and future trends, 3-4 December, 2003. Chulalongkorn University, Bangkok, Thailand. 43-47.
- Laowtammathron, C., Terao, T., Lorthongpanich, C., <u>Muenthaisong, S.</u>, Vetchayan, T., Hochi, S., and Parnpai, R. 2004. Effects of ficoll in vitrification solution on the postwarmed development of vitrified cloned bovine hatching blastocyst. Proceeding in Stem cells and somatic cells cloning research: present status and future trends, 3-4 December, 2003. Chulalongkorn University, Bangkok, Thailand. P48-51.
- Lorthongpanich, C., Laowtammathron, C., <u>Muenthaisong, S.</u>, and Parnpai, R. 2003. Finding the optimum fusion parameter for cloning of cat embryos by using ear fibroblasts as donor cells. Proceeding of The 41st Kasetsart University Annual Conference, 3-6 Febuary, 2003. Bangkok, Thailand 84-88.
- Laowtammathron, C., Terao, T., Lorthongpanich, C., <u>Muenthaisong, S.</u>, Vetchayan, T., Hochi, S., and Parnpai, R. 2003. Effect of Ficoll in vitrification solution on the postwarmed development of vitrified cloned bovine hatching blastocysts. Stem cells and somatic cells cloning research: Present status and future trends, Chulalongkorn University, December 3-4, 48-51.
- Laowtammathron, C., Terao, T., Lorthongpanich, C., <u>Muenthaisong, S</u>., Vetchayan, T., Hochi, S., and Parnpai, R. 2004. The effect of ficoll in vitrification solution and hatching status of cloned bovine blastocysts on the survival rate after vitrifivation by using

cryotop. Proceedings of the first workshop of the Asian Reproductive Biotechnology society. P67.

- Laowtammathron, C., Terao, T., Lorthongpanich, C., <u>Muenthaisong, S</u>., Vetchayan, T., Hochi, S., and Parnpai, R. 2004. The effect of hatching stage on the survival rate of cloned bovine embryos after vitrification. Proceeding of The 42st Kasetsart University Annual Conference, 3-6 Febuary, 2004. Bangkok, Thailand. P88-93..
- Parnpai, R., Laowtammathron, C., Terao,T., Lorthongpanich, C., <u>Muenthaisong, S.</u>, Vetchayan, T., Somwan, S., Muenkatok, P., Patitang, S., Kijsumret, S., and Siriudomsert, S. 2004. The use of cloning technology to produce exotic beef and dairy cattle. Proceeding of The 42st Kasetsart University Annual Conference, 3-6 Febuary, 2004. Bangkok, Thailand. P94-98.
- Vetchayan, T., Laowtammathorn, C., Lorthongpanich, C., <u>Muenthaisong, S.</u>, Karnsomdee, P., Ketudat-Cairns, M., Meuankatoke, P., Patitung, S., Siriudomsate, S., Kitsumret, S., and Parnpai, R. 2005. Growth performance of cloned calves derived from ear fibroblasts of exotic Brahman bull. The Proceedings of 43rd Kasetsart University Annual Conference. P67-72.

Oral presentation:

- <u>Muenthaisong, S.</u>, Ujhelly, O., Varga, E., Polgár, Zs., Ivics, Z., Pirity, M., Dinnyés, A. 2010. Generation and Characterization of Mouse Induced Pluripotent Stem (iPS) Cells Line by *Sleeping Beauty* Transposon. Obstetrics and Gynaecology, King Chulalongkorn Memorial Hospital, Bangkok, Thailand. November 12, 2010.
- <u>Muenthaisong, S.</u> and Dinnyes, A. 2008. Reprogramming of Mammalian Oocytes: Cryopreservation, Somatic Cell Nuclear Transfer and Stem Cell Differentiation. Joint seminar between Germplasm Conservation & Reproduction Biotechnologies, ARC-Animal Production Institute, Irene, Pretoria and Comparative Sperm Biology Group of Medical Bioscience. University of the Western Cape, 21 November, 2008.

- <u>Muenthaisong, S.</u>, Laowtammathron, C., Lorthongpanich, Imsoonthornsuksa, S., Tangthai, C., Sang-ngam, C., Hochi, S., Ketudat-Cairns, M., and Parnpai, R. 2005. Developmental potential of parthenogenetic activation of swamp buffalo embryos between fresh and vitrified oocytes. The 12th International Congress on Biotechnology in Animal Reproduction. Ching Mai, Thailand, 4-6 August, 2005. 93-97.
- Muenthaisong, S., Laowtammathron, C., Lorthongpanich, C., Terao, T., Vetchayan, T., Hochi, S., and Parnpai, R. 2004. *In vitro* development of cloned swamp buffalo embryos derived from vitrified matured oocytes. *The First Asian Reproductive Biotechnology Conference*. Ho Chi Minh City, 12-14 April, 2004.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This thesis study would not have been done possible without the support of many people and organizations. I take this opportunity to express my gratitude to the people who have been contributing the successful completion of this study. First and foremost, I would like to express my thanks to Dr. András Dinnyés, my supervisor for his supervision, advice and guidance from a very early stage of my study as well as offered valuable assistance and especially for his support from the initial throughout the entire study. Deepest gratitude are also due to my co-advisor, Dr. Olga Ujhelly who have immense helped, valuable guidance, making many extensive and advice supported, without whose knowledge and assistance this study would not have been successful.

I am gratefully acknowledge Dr. Melinda Pirity which I could never have embarked and started all of this without her prior teachings in molecular. It is a pleasure to express my thanks to Eszter Varga and Zsuzsanna Polgár for their crucial contribution this work. Special thanks also to all my colleagues and graduate friends, Dr. Csilla Nemes, Dr. Sasitorn Rungarunlert, Nuttha Klincumhom, Majorné Táncos Zsuzsanna, for their constant support and help during my study. Dr. Virág Vas, thank you so much for intensive reading. I also wish to express my sincere thanks to Dr. Marta Adorján, Györgyi Kungl, Tolnainé Csákány Hajnalka, Juhász Bianka, Serbana Geta, Kati Bara and all member of Molecular Animal Biotechnology Laboratory who have helped and supported during my work. My thanks and appreciations have to go to my colleagues at Biotalentum Company in developing the project and people who have willingly helped me out with their abilities.

Especially, an honorable mention goes to my beloved families for their understanding, encouragement and supporting me spiritually throughout my life or when it was most needed. Words also are inadequate in offering my thanks to Dávid Polgári for his caring and gently love. Polgári's family, thanks for accepting me as member of the family, warmly being supportive, caring and kind hospitality during my stay in Hungary.

This study was financially supported by grants from the the EU FP6 and FP7 project ("CLONET" MRTN-CT-2006-035468; "PartnErS", PIAP-GA-2008-218205; "InduHeart", EU FP7-PEOPLE-IRG-2008-234390; "InduStem", PIAP-GA-2008-230675; "Plurisys", HEALTH-F4-2009-223485; AniStem, PIAP-GA-2011-286264; InduVir, PEOPLE-IRG-2009-

245808; STEMCAM PIAP-GA-2009-251186, "Resolve" Health-F4-2008-202047; "IDPbyNMR" PITN-GA-2010-264257; "RabPStem" PERG07-GA-2010-268422); and NKTH/KPI (NKTH-OTKA FP7 "Mobility" HUMAN-MB08C-80205; BONUS HU_08/2-2009-0002, BONUS-HU-08/2-2009-0008) and the Hungarian-South African Bilateral Agreement Project (NRF-DST, TET OMFB-00302/2008), ARC-NRF-RT21000 provided further resources.

Finally, I would like to thank everybody who was important to the successful realization of this thesis, as well as expressing my apology that I could not mention personally one by one.